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Thursday, September 30, 2010

--- On commencing at 1:15 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good afternoon, everyone.  The Board is sitting today in the matter of application EB-2010-0008, submitted by Ontario Power Generation Inc.  This application was filed under section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act and is for the approval of increases in the payment amounts for the output of certain of OPG's generating facilities to be effective March 1st, 2011.

My name is Cynthia Chaplin, and I'll be the Presiding Member in this proceeding, and joining me on the Panel are Board Members Cathy Spoel and Marika Hare.  The Board sits today to consider two motions.  One was filed by the Consumers Council of Canada on September 17, 2010, and the other was filed by the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters on September 23rd, 2010.

The motions both concern the production of certain materials which were originally requested in interrogatories.  Specifically, the CCC motion seeks production of the materials requested in CCC Interrogatory 1(b).  This interrogatory requested the filing of all presentations or reports made to the OPG board of directors during the period April 1, 2010, to May 26, 2010.  OPG replied that the requested presentations and reports are privileged, and OPG objected to their production.

The CME motion requests an order requiring OPG to provide the documents requested in CME Interrogatory No. 10(a) and to provide a response to CME Interrogatory No. 10(c).  Interrogatory 10(a) requested the filing of all documents and other information presented to the OPG board of directors that led to the decision to revise the application OPG intended to file in mid-April, and Interrogatory 10(c) asked what criteria were applied by OPG's board of directors in their review of the application, and in response OPG referred to its response to CCC Interrogatory 1, and I have already summarized that response.

Both motions are brought -- also sought advanced production of these materials requests, which the Board has already denied.  As the motions are related, we intend to hear them together, and in response to the motions we have received -- the Board has received submissions from Schools Energy Coalition and OPG, and it's our assumption that there are no other parties that intend to make submissions today.

So I will now take appearances.
Appearances:


MR. WARREN:  Members of the Panel, my name is Robert Warren.  I am for the moving party, the Consumers Council of Canada.  With me is my colleague, Tiffany Tsun, whose name is spelled T-s-u-n.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.

MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for CME.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. KEIZER:  Charles Keizer on behalf of Ontario Power Generation, and with me today is my co-counsel, Mr. Crawford Smith, as well as Ms. Barb Reuber and Andrew Barrett, regulatory affairs, OPG, and Mr. Carleton Mathias, associate general counsel for OPG.  As well, can I just make one quick note?  Mr. Smith is my co-counsel.  He will be appearing throughout the proceeding on various panels, and for an allocation of our work effort in preparing for the hearing Mr. Smith will be arguing in response for OPG today.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Keizer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, Jay Shepherd on behalf of the School Energy Coalition, and with me is student-at-law Mark Rubenstein.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Members of the Panel.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  I am joined today by Violet Binnette.  And I note, Madam Chair, I don't think we are on the air, so --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Oh, you know, I didn't push that -- I apologize.  Shows how long since I've been doing...  Thank you.

Before we begin, the Board would like to make its views known regarding the evidence schedule for the hearing.  I realize, actually, that most parties to the proceeding are not here today, but I am using this opportunity to communicate via the transcript.

Wherever possible we would like to hear the evidence grouped by issue, and in other words we would like to hear the -- for example, we would like to hear the evidence from Pollution Probe on capital structure immediately following the OPG evidence on the same issue.  We understand this may not always be possible, but that is certainly -- it is our preference, and we would appreciate all efforts that are made to accomplish that.

And in addition, we expect parties to provide good information to Board Staff as to which panels they intend to cross-examine and how long they intend to be.  This is important for all of the parties, including the Board Panel, and we need to know the order of cross-examination and the likely time to be spent on each panel.

And if parties are not able to provide timely information to Board Staff, I will be asking for it directly during the hearing, and I don't think this is a good use of hearing time, so I am strongly encouraging each of you, and although I am looking at each of you, I am talking to everyone, to work with Board Staff to maintain a complete and accurate schedule.

And I understand that Board Staff will plan to be sending out an e-mail at the end of each day so that parties will know what will be coming up the following day, so another reason why it's important for us to have accurate information.

Before we begin to hear the motion proper, are there any other preliminary matters?

MR. KEIZER:  The only one preliminary matter which isn't germane to the motion, but just to advise that OPG did file an impact statement this morning.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

All right.  Now, in terms of hearing the motion, our plan is to hear from CCC and CME first.  I don't know if you have a preference.  And then Mr. Shepherd, if he is wanting to elaborate on the materials.  And then we would like to hear from Board Staff.  We know Board Staff didn't file anything in advance, but there are some matters that we would like to hear from them on, and then we would hear from OPG, and then reply from CCC and CME.  Is that satisfactory?

So I don't know which of you gentlemen wish to proceed first.

MR. WARREN:  It's me, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please go ahead, Mr. Warren.
Submissions by Mr. Warren:

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, you should have before you a brief of authorities.  Copies of the relevant materials were e-mailed to all of the parties who we understood were participating today.  I have advised my friends that there was one change.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry.  Yes, we do have those.

MR. WARREN:  There was one change in the material that was e-mailed last night, and that is that at tab 1 I have reproduced section 78.1(5) rather than 78(2) and (3).  I don't think anything turns on that.

Madam Chair, it also occurs to me that it would be of assistance if you had before you the complete non-confidential answer to CCC No. 1 in this matter.  It just occurred to me late in the day, so I apologize for not having copies of it.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Does a complete answer appear in any of the -- I mean, we do not have a complete copy of the record here with us.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's in the CME's brief, Madam Chair, at tab 2.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So that's -- just to make sure I am looking at the right thing, that Exhibit 8, tab 9, schedule 44?  No.  Oh, that's the wrong proceeding.

MR. WARREN:  At tab 2, the relevant material, Madam Chair, that I want to refer the Panel to, at tab 2 of Mr. Thompson's material there are copies of two pieces of correspondence which are non-confidential.  One is a letter dated May 5 to Tom Mitchell from the minister, Mr. Duguid, and then following that there is a letter dated June 24th from Mr. Mitchell back to Mr. Duguid.  Those are the matters that I want to refer to, if you have those.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, yes.  We have those.

MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, as you have indicated, this is a motion seeking an order requiring OPG to provide the materials requested in our interrogatory, or rather my client's Interrogatory 1(b), and the material is all presentations and reports made to the OPG board of directors in the period between April 1, 2010 and May 26th, 2010.

By way of summary overview, Members of the panel, it is our position that the material is relevant to the determination of the application.  It is also our position that the material is not protected by privilege.  Further, it will be our position that to hold that it is protected by privilege would set a dangerous precedent that would significantly impair the ability of the Board in this and other applications to set just and reasonable rates.

Let me turn first to a brief overview of the relevant facts.  CCC's application is for the materials presented to the Board arises in the particular context of this application.  CCC's Interrogatory 1(b) asked for correspondence between OPG and its shareholder and in response to that, OPG responded in a non-confidential response, two items.  One is the letter that I have referred to dated May 5, 2010, from the minister, Mr. Duguid to Mr. Mitchell.  And if the Board would look at that, the minister asks OPG in the second full paragraph it requests OPG to:
"...carefully reassess the contents of its rate application prior to filing with the Ontario Energy Board.  I would like OPG to demonstrate concerted efforts to identify cost saving opportunities and focus your forthcoming rate application on those items that are essential to the safe and reliable operation of your existing assets and projects under development."


And in addition to that it, in the following paragraph, the minister says:
"Also as part of OPG’s,” and I underscore the following words, “efforts to mitigate rate pressures and consistent with the government's policy on the introduction of the harmonized sales tax.  I would request that OPG commit to returning to ratepayers the full cost reduction impact of input tax credits from items that were previously subject to the retail sales tax."


I wanted to underscore for the Board the words “OPG’s efforts to mitigate rate pressures.”

In response, the second item which is attachment 2 to the response is the letter from Mr. Mitchell on behalf of OPG to the minister.

What the minister did in that issue, in my respectful submission, he framed the issue of what OPG has done to mitigate cost pressures both generally and in response to the minister's letter and that will be an overriding issue in this application.  Included in the consideration of that issue will be the question of whether or to what extent OPG's management disclosed what it was proposing to do to its board and how its board responded.

Attachment 2, as I have said, is the letter, Mr. Mitchell's response, and it claims, Members of the Panel, that OPG has been responsive to minister's letter and to the building public concern over electricity prices.  It also specifically references in the letter a meeting of the board of directors on May 20, 2010 in which the OPG board approved the revised rate application.

Among other things, the CCC and indeed the hearing panel should be able to test the assertions by having before it all material relevant to what OPG did including material relevant to what was provided to OPG's board and how it responded.  It is OPG that has put an issue with that letter what took place at that May 20th, 2010 hearing.

This very issue is central, that is, the direction from the government, I use direction with a small D and not in the statutory sense.  The direction from the government to both Hydro One Networks and to OPG to reconsider their applications and to, where possible, reduce the impact of the revenue requirement and consequent rates on ratepayers is central to the Hydro One Transmission case which is being heard next door.  And the hearing panel has been asked to provide analogous material.

Mr. Thompson, in his submissions, will deal in detail with the nature of the material that has been requested and provided in that hearing in another hearing.

I note here only that the fact that analogous material has been requested and ordered produced and indeed produced in that hearing, raises for you the issue of consistency in rulings on similar or indeed identical issues in similar or indeed identical circumstances.

This Panel is, I submit, not bound by what the other panel does but consistency in decision-making is important to the integrity of the regulatory process and it should be abandoned only in the clearest of circumstances, that is, when circumstances of one case are clearly distinguishable from the other.  It will be my position that these two cases are not distinguishable whether clearly or otherwise.

Let me turn from that factual context, then, to my submissions. The central issue that you have to determine, in my respectful submission, is whether the material that we have sought is relevant and material to the determination of just and reasonable rates, and, if so, it is our position that it should be produced unless it is protected by privilege.

CCC submits that it is clearly relevant and material.  The issue is whether, as OPG claims, it has reduced its revenue requirement in order to respond to cost pressures on consumers.

Given, in our submission, that it is clearly relevant and material, the only remaining issue is whether, as OPG claims, it is protected by litigation privilege.

In order to put my submissions on the issue of litigation privilege in context, I would ask you to turn to tab 1 of our book of authorities.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Warren, if I may, I think this should have an exhibit number, and propose to call that exhibit KM, M for motion, 1.1.  That's the CCC Book of Authorities.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.1:  CCC Book of Authorities

MR. WARREN:  Thanks.  I only place section 78.1 before the Board to provide the statutory context or basis, if you will, for your decision, which is a determination of just and reasonable rates.

The Board's discretion in determining what is just and reasonable is broad.  That's now pretty close to self evident, I think.

In reaching its determination, the Board must have reference to the objectives which appear in section 1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and if the Board would turn to tab 2 of my materials, we then set out -- we therein set out the objectives that the Board is obligated to consider in relation to electricity.

The Board is not bound to make a decision one way or another, it's bound to consider those.  The significance for purpose of my submissions of the objectives, is that they embrace a number of different policy considerations requiring the Board to consider interests other than those of the parties before it.

I will state here, and I will repeat perhaps ad nauseam in the course of my submissions, that you are not obligated to decide between OPG's position and my position or the position of my client.  This is not the resolution of a lis between parties, this is a determination of just and reasonable rates, and what section 1 does is it obligates you to look at a broad array of policy considerations, some of which, indeed many of which, are in conflict.  But your horizon, if you wish, the horizon that you have to look to, is the broad public interest and the section 1 criteria or objectives reflect that.

Now, the breadth of the Board's discretion has been repeatedly confirmed by the courts.  There are a number of examples of that.  I have chosen the most recent one that I am aware of and that's the decision of the Ontario Court of Appeal in the case of Toronto Hydro Electric System and the Ontario Energy Board which is found at tab 3 of my materials.

And I would refer the Board first to paragraph 12 of the decision in which the Court said, and I quote:
"This court has held that the OEB is a highly specialized expert tribunal with broad authority to regulate the energy sector and to balance competing interests."


Then in paragraph 14 the Court says:
"In short, the OEB is to balance the interest of ratepayers in terms of prices and service while at the same time ensuring a financially viable electricity industry that is both economically efficient and cost effective."


In paragraph 25 of the decision the Court states, and I quote:
"The case law suggests that OEB's power in respect of setting rates is to be interpreted broadly and extends well beyond a strict construction of the task."

And finally at paragraph 28, the Court of Appeal cites the recent decision in another Toronto Hydro case, a decision of the Divisional Court, and it quotes with approval, and the quote appears indented.  It says in the last six lines or thereof of the indented quote:
"There is no dispute that the OEB has rate-setting powers under the OEBA which are broad enough to encompass the power to determine reduced revenue requirements as a result of the sale of non-surplussed assets.  Although there is no privative clause, the OEB is a highly specialized expert tribunal with broad authority to regulate the energy sector in Ontario and to balance impede competing interests."


And the notion of balancing competing interests is critical, in my respectful submission.  Your function is not to decide a list between OPG and my client or between OPG and any other party.

The one thing, in my respectful submission, that the Board is not doing is resolving a dispute between parties.  There is a fundamental distinction between your function as a regulatory agency and that of the court.  The courts can only resolve the issues that are brought to them by the parties on the evidence that the parties produce.  They do not and, indeed, in my submission cannot have reference to policy considerations of the kind reflected in Section 1 of the OEB Act.

The Board may and indeed does regularly have competing arguments placed before it, but its function is not to resolve the arguments in favour of one side or the other.  The parties to an application may have competing interests on one or more issues.  They may share common positions on one or more issues.  But it is not an adversary proceeding in the same way that civil or criminal proceedings are, and it is not -- and I will return to this point somewhat later -- it is not an adversary proceeding in the sense that some regulatory proceedings are; for example, those where there is discipline involved or where there may be the imposition of a penalty.

The distinction between the court's function in deciding a lis and the Board's function in a section 78.1 application of deciding on rates in the public interest is fundamental to an understanding of why litigation privilege does not apply in this circumstance.

Turn then to a discussion of what litigation privilege is for and what it constitutes.  And there is some useful general discussion of litigation privilege in the cases that are relied on by my friend, Mr. Smith.

And I'd ask you to turn up his book of authorities.  Mr. Millar, do you want to give it an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we'll call that Exhibit KM1.2, Madam Chair, and that is the brief of authorities from OPG.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  BRIEF OF AUTHORITIES FROM OPG.

MR. WARREN:  I would ask the Panel if they would turn to tab 10 of that, which is the General Accident Assurance Company case.  And in particular, if you would turn to page 254 of that decision.  In that case the Court of Appeal begins its discussion of litigation privilege by citing the textbook written by Sopinka, Lederman, and Bryant on the Law of Evidence.  And the quote which appears, I take you to about two-thirds of the way through it.  In its discussion of litigation privilege the authors of the text as cited by the Court of Appeal say:
"Rather, it was founded upon our adversary system of litigation, by which counsel control fact presentation before the court and decide for themselves which evidence and by what manner of proof they will adduce facts to establish their claim or defence without any obligation to make prior disclosure of the material acquired in preparation of the case."


The words I want to underscore there are "our adversary system of litigation".  I make the point, and I apologize for repeating it ad nauseam, that we are not engaged in this case in the adversary system of litigation.

If you turn to the following page, where they cite an article that was written by Robert Sharpe before he became a member of the court, and if you look to the middle of the long quote, it begins in the paragraph "litigation privilege", and about two-thirds or a third of the way through that paragraph Mr. Sharpe, as he then was, says, and I quote:
"Its purpose is more particularly related to the needs of the..."

And I underscore these words:
"...adversarial trial process.  Litigation privilege is based upon the need for a protective area to facilitate investigation and preparation of a case for trial by the..."

I underscore these words:
"...adversarial advocate.  In other words, litigation privilege aims to facilitate a process -- namely, the adversary process -- while solicitor-client privilege aims to protect a relationship; namely, the confidential relationship between a lawyer and a client."

The significance of those two quotes which are relied on by the Court of Appeal in that decision, at least by way of background analysis of the litigation privilege, lies in the evidence on the adversary process in civil trials.  That is a narrow context which is not, in my respectful submission, applicable here.

If, in my respectful submission, that fundamental element of the adversary nature of the process is missing, then the litigation privilege doesn't apply.  You will see in my friend Mr. Smith's submissions and in the cases that he relies on he points to, with considerable emphasis, to two notions.  One is the dominant purpose test and the second is the obligation to produce materials, and he says once those are present litigation privilege obtains.  I say that gets it backwards.  You never get to the dominant purpose test.  You never get to the obligation to disclose, whether -- and I will return to these cases later.  You never get to them unless you first find that this is an adversary process.  In my respectful submission, in the context of this application, you never get to that step.

Now, the question of whether or not litigation privilege should apply to regulatory proceedings has been considered by the courts but regrettably not extensively.

The first case I want to refer you to in our materials appears at tab 4.  And that is the Ed Miller Sales and Rental decision of the Alberta Court of Appeal.   Now, the issue before the Court of Appeal in that case was whether working papers that had been produced as part of a regulatory investigation were the subject of litigation privilege.

What had happened, by way of background, was that there had been an investigation by the then combines investigation branch.  There had been working papers produced by one -- by the -- at the request of the solicitors for one of the parties in that investigation, and in the subsequent litigation there was a request that they be produced.  The argument then arose as to whether or not those working papers produced in a regulatory

context -- that is not a court context.  It was regulatory context of an investigation by the combines folks -- whether they were subject to litigation privilege.

I would ask the Board to turn to page 5 of the decision.  The last paragraph on page 5, I quote:
"For Miller it is urged that an enquiry by the director of investigation and research under the Combines Investigation Act is not litigation.  Alternatively, it is said that if the documents were ever privileged, that privilege has ended once the director terminated its enquiry.  In my view, both arguments take too narrow a view of the term 'litigation'.  Once the director focused on the Caterpillar companies to enquire whether they were guilty of offences under the Act, litigation in the fullest sense of the word was then in actual progress, let alone in contemplation.  The parties could look ahead to many possible procedures.  Some under the Act had possible penal consequences.  Some were civil, as this very action establishes.  All involve the same issues.  The enquiry seems to have resolved itself to the question of the cost of the Caterpillar no-charge services, and the very same issue appears at the forefront of this action."


My point in the Ed Miller case is that the Court of Appeal of Alberta was able to characterize the proceedings before the investigation conducted by the combines folks as litigation because of the circumstances that it could lead to other proceedings, including penal sanctions.  That distinguishes it from a rate-setting application, which has none of those consequences.

Now, the second case I want to refer you to is the College of Physicians and Surgeons case which appears at page -- sorry, tab 5 of my materials.  This is a decision of the British Columbia Court of Appeal.  And the issue in that case was whether documents which arose in the course of an investigation of a complaint against the physician were the subject of litigation privilege.

Again, narrow context -- sorry, the context in this case is documents which arose in a regulatory setting; that is, the investigation of a complaint against a physician, whether they were subject to litigation privilege.

Page 16 of the decision, the British Columbia Court of Appeal made the following undertook the following analysis at the beginning of paragraph 79:
"I do not disagree that the interests of the member being investigated is adversarial to that of the College and the complainant.  This is the ratio of the Ed Miller Sales & Rental and case and the Bank Lou AG, which I accept.”

Then paragraph 80:
“However, when college is investigating a complaint, its interest in the outcome of the investigation is not adversarial to either the complainant or the member.  Its duty, mandated by the statute, is to serve and protect the public and to exercise its powers and to discharge its responsibilities in the public interest."


Then on page 79, I apologize, paragraph 79:
“The emphasis is placed on the investigative nature and the fact that it's responding to a higher statutory obligation.”


And at paragraph 81 the Court says:
"At the investigative stage, the college is not seeking to impose penalties or sanctions against the member but through the special deputy registrar acting under section 21.2 of the MPA to make findings on which to base a recommendation to the SMRC as to how it should proceed."


Again, the significance of the case, in my respectful submission, is that the determination of whether litigation privilege applies turns on the adversarial nature of the proceeding.  And here there is no adversarial nature of the proceeding precisely because this body has a higher statutory obligation to make an investigation in the public interest, it is directly analogous in that sense to what the Board's duty is under section 78.1(5) of the OEB Act.

The next case to which I draw your attention is the decision of the House of Lords, which unhappily no longer carries on that function.  I miss all those wonderful names that they had.  It was the only thing amusing about first year law school, I can tell you that.

The issue before the House of Lords, this is a case the facts of which are deeply unhappy.  Two individuals had a child.  They were addicts.  They were on a form of treatment and the child ingested some of this.  Happily the child did not suffer, but the issue for the House of Lords was whether a report prepared by an expert as part of proceedings under child protection legislation was subject to litigation privilege, which, in this context, is called legal professional privilege.

Now at page 8 of the decision, the House of Lords quoting a decision of, among others, Lord Denning.  At the bottom of the right-hand column that in that particular case, I quote:

"Lord Denning, Rothskill and Lord Simon of Glaisdale all emphasized the important part which litigation privilege plays in a fair trial under the adversarial system.  This raises the question of whether proceedings under part 4 of the act are essentially adversarial in their nature.  If they are, litigation privilege must continue to play its normal part.  If they are not different considerations may apply."


And then going down the left-hand column on page 9, the House of Lords is referring to another case involving protection of infants.  And it says in the beginning of the penultimate -- at the end of the paragraph:
“Lord Scarman in Re: E pointed out that a court in a wardship proceedings was not exercising an adversarial jurisdiction and that 'its duty is not limited to the dispute between the parties.  On the contrary, its duty is to act in a way best suited in its judgment to serve the true interest and welfare of the ward.'"


And then over on the next column at the beginning of the paragraph which continues at the top of that, I quote:
“The above dicta would appear to provide firm support for the proposition that proceedings under part 4 of the Act are like wardship proceedings are essentially non-adversarial in their nature.”


And then two paragraphs after that:
"I agree with Sir Stephen Brown that care proceedings are essentially non-adversarial having reached that conclusion also that litigation privilege is essentially a creature of adversarial proceedings, it follows that the matter at large for this house to determine is what if any role is to place in care proceeding."


The importance of that case is that the House of Lords confirmed in my view, the correct view, which is that when proceedings are non-adversarial in their nature, litigation privilege doesn't apply.

The only case that we were able to find in which this issue was decided by a regulatory authority is the case with the rather poetic title Order F06-16 which appears at tab 7 of our materials.

This is a decision by the Information and Privacy Commissioner of the province of British Columbia.

The issue in the case was whether the information -- whether information material that was prepared as part of a regulatory proceeding was subject to litigation privilege.

Just by way of broad overview, there was an application to American regulatory authorities to build an electricity facility. It was very heavily opposed by the British Columbia government, and in subsequent proceedings before the NEB, the American folks sought access to certain information that had been prepared for and on behalf of the government through the Access to Information Act.

But one of the issues that arose in the case was whether or not the information was subject to litigation privilege.

Now, I won't take you through the reasoning of the commissioner.  He ultimately decided that the material was subject to litigation privilege, but his reasoning in so doing was in the context of a highly contested, in effect, adversarial proceeding.  An adversarial proceeding -- admittedly adversarial proceeding in a regulatory context but nevertheless a hotly contested adversarial proceeding.

I would ask you to turn up, in this context, you will see at paragraphs 29 and 30 the rehearsing of the various arguments under which the parties argued back and forth about whether it was litigation privilege.  But I would ask you to turn first to page 11 of the decision.

My friend, in his materials, relies on a decision of the Alberta Court of Appeal in the Ghermezian case.  I will get to the Ghermezian case somewhat later in my submissions, but what that case says reduced to its essence, is that in circumstance where is a party is in adversarial proceeding the party is obliged by the rules to produce information.  It can, that in those circumstances litigation privilege obtains.

My friend, as I understand his written submissions, takes the position that once there is an obligation to produce, that thereafter that means that litigation privilege obtains.

It is my position that unless it’s an adversarial proceeding, you don't ever have to ask yourself that question.  But it is interesting on page 11 that the information or privacy commissioner rejected the test articulated in Ghermezian, saying, in numbered paragraph 77:
“...because it focuses on whether disclosure requirements apply to a proceeding, it ignores the need for an adversarial element to support the existence of litigation privilege."

I don't necessarily disagree with the result in this, but I think that is an apt summary of my position opposite my friend on the Ghermezian case.

If you look at paragraph 40, and on the next page:

“I have concluded that the information the ministry refused to disclose on the basis of litigation privilege was protected by that privilege.  The scope and application of litigation privilege in relation to administrative proceedings and principles for deciding when proceedings are related to each other are still developing.  In deciding that litigation privilege applies here, I have kept in view the underlying policy of litigation privilege, which is again to give parties who are adverse in interest in contested legal proceedings confidentiality protection for information they obtain or create to prepare their cases."


I note that in College of Physicians, which is the case I referred you to earlier, the Court of Appeal approved of Ed Miller Sales, which held that:
"A regulatory investigation can support a claim of litigation privilege in relation to the adversarial interests of the target of the investigation.  SE2, the American proposed developer of this facility in British Columbia, were clearly opposed in interest in the EFSEC and NEB hearings.  Their interests were adversarial, as was the case in Ed Miller."


So while the information and privacy commissioner held that in the circumstances of that case litigation privilege obtained, it is not authority for the proposition that in every regulatory proceeding litigation privilege obtains.  It's only in regulatory proceedings which are -- where parties are clearly adverse in interest and where the decision-maker has to decide between the positions of two parties.  That is not the case, in my respectful submission, in a section 78.1 application, as we have here.

Now, I have already dealt briefly with the cases which my friend is relying on.  Let me summarize briefly my position on them.  My friend relies on a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada.  The leading is in one narrow context decision on litigation privilege, and on the General Accident Assurance case, which I referred you to earlier, for the articulation of what's now the accepted test, which is the dominant purpose test.  If a document or material is prepared for the -- the dominant purpose is for litigation, it may be, other things being equal, subject to litigation privilege.

Again, my position is that you never get to the dominant purpose test unless you first decide that this is an adversarial proceeding.  He relies on the Ghermezian case, as I have said, for the proposition that where there is an obligation to produce materials, that in those circumstances litigation privilege obtains.  Again, my position is you never get to that unless you first decide that it is adversarial in its nature.

Briefly, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, my friend refers to sections of the Statutory Powers and Procedure Act which preserve that, in terms of a regulatory agency's ability to admit evidence, preserve privileges.  It is not to be read as a requirement that you apply privilege.  It simply means that you can -- in my respectful submission, it means that you can find that documents are privileged, but again it depends on the circumstances and it depends on doing the analysis of the kind I've expressed.

I want to turn finally, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, to what I consider to be an important policy issue which is raised by my friend's position in this case.  I cannot overstate the risk to the Board's process if it upholds a claim for litigation privilege.  The argument of my friend is premised on the proposition that an application for approval of rates is litigation, in that it is fundamentally adversarial in nature.  If the argument succeeds, there can be no doubt that other utilities, in Pavlovian fashion, will seek to shield essential information from disclosure in regulatory proceedings.  Doing so would, in my submission, limit the Board's ability to exercise its statutory duty to set just and reasonable rates.  It would limit the Board's ability to act in the public interest.

I ask the Board to, whatever decision it makes on whether or not this particular -- these particular documents are relevant and material, I would ask the Board to reject the argument that this is subject to litigation privilege.

I ask the Board to make a decision consistent with those which have been made in the Hydro One networks case.  Indeed, a decision that these documents should be admitted is consistent with a long line of cases in which communications to and from boards of directors were held to be relevant and were ordered produced.

Finally, the Board has long since rejected the argument which appears in my friend's submissions that disclosure will impair the ability of boards to get candid advice.  It is clear that they are still able to get candid advice and to make the correct decisions as they see them, even though the Board has in a number of cases over the years ordered this very kind of material produced.

Those are my submissions.  Thank you very much.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

I just have one question at this point, Mr. Warren.  I am looking at your tab 7, the information and privacy commissioner decision.  And I am looking at paragraph 41.  And am I -- as I am reading it here, I am interpreting it that they found that in the case of the NEB hearing that the interests were adversarial, and therefore it was an adversarial process, and therefore the -- in your analysis, therefore, the privilege could apply.

Now, it seems to me, thinking about NEB hearings or, indeed, our sort of leave-to-construct hearings, I am assuming are the analogous ones, I mean, if this decision here found those to be adversarial, why are -- wouldn't our rate proceedings under the same analysis be considered adversarial if there are people who oppose the application, even if there are these broader contexts in which the Board will ultimately make the decision?  Because presumably that would also be the case in NEB hearings.  There may be those proposing a project, those opposing, and broader considerations that the NEB needs to bring to bear in its decision-making.

MR. WARREN:  The unfortunate result -- this is the only case we could find in which a regulatory agency put its mind to this very matter.  And one of the unfortunate aspects of the case is that it doesn't consider the very question which you have just raised, which is whether or not in NEB proceeding the presence of broader statutory considerations would defeat the claim for litigation privilege.

What it would appear from my reading of the decision is they focused on, was the fact that this was a bitterly contested fight between the American proponent and the province of British Columbia, and it was the narrowness of the contest between them that governed.

In my respectful submission, I think the decision was wrongly decided, for the very reason that there these other statutory considerations, but unfortunately this information commissioner appears not to have put his mind to that very question.

So I can't give you an answer other than that.  As lawyers, we every now and again have to deal with decisions that go against us.  This is the only decision we would find.  I am obligated to put it before you.  I think it's, in a sense, given that it's decided on the narrow ground that there is an adversarial interest, it isn't against me.  But for the very reason you have said, it just didn't consider that issue, as far as I can tell.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So if I were to paraphrase your sort of model of how this should be looked at, although in a rate proceeding there are adversarial views taken, it may be heated, there may be many things that are contested, because the Board has this broader context in which it needs to reach its ultimate conclusion, it is therefore not adversarial litigation.

MR. WARREN:  It is not adversarial litigation.  Let me -- I just draw the distinction again between a court's function in deciding a civil proceeding, which is that it's Thompson v. Warren, and the court doesn't look at policy issues.  It can't look at policy issues.  It says on the basis of the evidence Thompson wins or Warren wins, and that's the decision.  That's classically adversarial litigation.  And in those circumstances litigation privilege obtains.

Now, does it obtain in regulatory proceedings?  It does in those regulatory proceedings where it is -- for example, a discipline body proposes to discipline me.  That's classically adversarial proceedings, because they have to decide whether or not I have breached certain statutory standards of negligence in the carrying-on of my practice or whatever.

It's different in the context of a section 78 application.  I may disagree with Mr. Smith's position on a certain payment amount, but you can ignore both of us, and you can say that the real issue on this payment amount is a consideration of some other matter, the integrity of their generation system.

And because you must look at those things -- you don't have to decide between Mr. Smith and me.  To a large measure we are irrelevant.  What you must decide is whether or not, in your view, the public interest is served because these are just and reasonable rates.  And that's the fundamental difference, in my respectful submission.  I hope that adequately summarizes my position in this.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

Mr. Thompson?
Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, thank you, Madam Chair.

For the purposes of my submission you will need to have in front of you the motion material that we distributed, I believe it was on September the 23rd.  I hope the Panel has that.

 At tab B1 of -- sorry, B1 of that material, there is the CME Interrogatory No. 10 which you recited, Madam Chair, in opening.  And what we are seeking are the documents requested in 10A, as you noted, and we are seeking a response to 10(c).


 The response that the company provided is in CCC number 1 and that's found at tab 2 of the document and it has the -- it has the two letters that Mr. Warren referred to in his submissions.

 In the interrogatory response, that's CCC No. 1, the company, that's OPG, resists production on three bases, as I understand it.  They say the material is irrelevant, they say it's privileged, and they also assert its prejudicial effect outweighs its probative value.  But the main reason of resistance, as I understand, it is litigation privilege and it's to that issue that I will direct most of my submissions.

 Now, in terms of the principles that should guide you in considering this request for production, I submit, first and foremost, you should reiterate what has been said by many before you in this Board that in proceedings before the Board, full disclosure is essential.  The confidence that the public has in the process really depends upon full and frank disclosure.

 I did circulate a decision yesterday by e-mail.  I don't think I need to hand it up to you.  It's a recent decision by Vice-Chair -- former Vice-Chair Kaiser, it’s –- the docket number is EB-2008-0304 and it pertained to an application by Westcoast and Union with respect to some redemption, share redemption benefits occurring during a PBR time frame.

 And at page 11 of that decision -- an issue came up in that decision about whether some material had been disclosed by Union and at page 11 of that decision, Mr. Kaiser quoted a principle that I just wanted to read into the record here dealing with full disclosure.  He said this:
"A public utility in Ontario with a monopoly franchise is not a garden variety corporation.  It has special responsibilities which form part of what the courts have described as the regulatory compact.  One aspect of that regulatory compact is an obligation to disclose material facts on a timely basis."


The quote then goes on to recite portions of a decision from the Court of Appeal in the Toronto Hydro Electric System case and then carries on:
"Failure to disclose has at least two unfortunate consequences.  First, it can only result in less than optimum Board decisions.  Second, it adds to the time and cost of proceedings.  Neither of these are in the public interest.  A publicly regulated corporation is under a general duty to disclose all relevant information relating to Board's proceedings it is engaged in unless the information is privileged or not under its control.  In so doing, a utility should err on the side of inclusion."


So I recite that to support a submission to you to the effect that the trend is to full disclosure, not only in the courts but in this Board.  And in these types of proceeding, the fullness of disclosure is, in my submission, essential.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Thompson, I am sorry to interrupt.  I don't doubt that you sent it, but Board Staff have not received a copy of that decision and I don't believe the Panel does either.  If you happen to have copies, I propose to mark it as an exhibit.

MR. THOMPSON:   I sent it out last night, at least I thought I did.   So many things on the go, I can’t remember.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be exhibit KM 1.3 and it is the Board's decision in EB-2008-0304.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.3:   Decision of the Board in EB-2008-0304

MR. THOMPSON:  Turning to the nature of the proceedings before the Board, I would submit that proceedings before the Board wherein a utility seeks rate relief are really in the nature of an inquiry as to the reasonableness of the utility's proposals having regard to all matters relevant to the public interest.

 Neither the Board nor anyone else is being sued when an application – sorry, when a utility applicant seeks an order approving just and reasonable rates.  And so I would agree with Mr. Warren that you should have in your minds the nature of this public interest inquiry nature of the process that you administer.

 Mr. Warren urges you to focus on the issue of whether litigation privilege does or does not apply in proceedings before the Board.  I agree with him that it's certainly questionable as to whether it should apply in proceedings before the Board.  However, I provide you with another option.

 My submission is that the applicant cannot discharge the burden of establishing that the dominant purpose of the documents that we are asking to have produced is contemplated litigation.  If you agree with that proposition, then it's unnecessary to decide whether litigation privilege does or does not apply in proceedings before the Board.

 So my focus is on what is -- what was the purpose of these documents and it's therefore factual.

 My submission is that the dominant purpose of the documents we request to have produced was to obtain director approval of revisions to business plans made in response to a public concern over electricity price increases.  That's a public interest factor.  That concern became prevalent at the end of March 2010 and has been increasing ever since.

 And, so, what was presented, in my respectful submission, to OPG's board of directors in May, in writing, was a written material prepared not by counsel but prepared by the corporate official with the responsibility, the business responsibility of getting pricing changes approved by OPG's regulator.

 What we are dealing with is a presentation pertaining -- seeking director approval of revisions to business plans which is necessary because they become the basis for the very application to this Board.

 So I would submit the presentations are clearly relevant to the application that OPG asks for you to approve the payment amounts on the implicit assertions that they are just and reasonable.

 What, then, is the evidence before you pertaining to the purpose of these documents?  And we have attempted to include some of that evidence in our record.  The first document I would like to take you to is at tab 6, which is --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Thompson, I am going to have to ask you -- we actually don't physically have tabs, so if I could get you to amplify your description with a bit more information, we will find the documents more quickly.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So it's the --


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I have a tabbed copy which I am happy to give you if it would assist you.  I don't need it.

MR. THOMPSON:  This won't take long.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't you just go ahead, Mr. Thompson.  I am sure we will be able to find the things quickly.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's the press release, OPG's press release that follows a piece of paper that's entitled tab 5, confidential.  But it is tab 6.  I thought that when this was distributed by my assistant electronically there were sheets of paper --


MS. CHAPLIN:  There were but we don't -- any way, I have tab 5.  I am now trying to find tab 6.

MR. THOMPSON:  Just keep turning the page and you will see OPG starts Energy Board rate application process.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so that was a press release by OPG on March the 29th of 2010 announcing its planned application.  This is not the application that was eventually filed, but that was what was initially planned.

If you then turn to the next document, which is a Globe and Mail article of May the 6th, 2010.  I hope that's --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  -- what appears in your books.  And this is then now the public concern about electricity price increases.  And this is -- mind you, this is a month and some later when this article is written.  But it does give some of the chronology that happened at the end of March.

And if you look at the -- starting at the third paragraph, it says:
"Three days before Hydro One was set to go to the province's energy regulator mid-March, government officials told the company not to file its application, according to industry sources.  Months of preparation that had gone into applying for the new rate suddenly ground to a halt, including the printing of hundreds of thousands of pages of documents.  The magnitude of the increase Hydro One was seeking -- 22 percent over two years -- according to industry sources left many of its largest customers in shock.  Ontario Power Generation's intention to ask for a 9 percent rate increase effective next January, equivalent to about $2.75 a month for the average household, paled in comparison, but unlike Hydro One, OPG publicly announced its plans last March 29th, and it was the negative reaction that prompted government officials to step in, the sources said."


So this is evidence pertaining to the public concern that emerged in late March.

We then have, as I understand it, meetings between OPG and Hydro One and the ministry, and the next document that -- in my material that is of relevance to this is back to the Consumer -- CCC Interrogatory No. 1, and it's the letters that Mr. Warren had reference to.

So we have the emergence of concern, we have hold off filing; there are meetings, as I understand it, and then we get the ministry letter to Mr. Mitchell.  That's May 5, 2010.  And the response to that is of June 24, 2010.  This is Mr. Mitchell's response to the ministry.

Now, from Mr. Barrett's affidavit we know that what happened in April was that something was -- an e-mail -- I am looking at paragraph 13 of Mr. Barrett's affidavit that was sent to me on the 27th of September, 2010.  It was attached to the submissions of OPG.  I hope the Panel has that.

And if you look at paragraph 13, Mr. Barrett says that, as I understand it, that on April 14, 2010 an e-mail had gone from Mr. Mitchell to the board of directors, and then about the decision to revise the application.

And then my understanding is that there was a committee meeting, at least from his affidavit, on May the 19th, and then the paper that was presented to the committee on May the 19th was then presented to the full board of directors on May the 20th, and it had a covering memorandum, actually, dated earlier than May the 20th, May the 11th, a covering memorandum from Mr. Mitchell.

So the documents that we're talking about here and asking to have produced, as I understand it, are one e-mail, April the 14th, and then the documents that went to the board of directors, which I understand to be the material that went to the committee on May the 19th, plus a covering memorandum, it's called, from Mr. Mitchell.  So there are, as I understand it, two documents that went to the board of directors.

The nature of those documents, I submit, is demonstrated by Mr. Mitchell's June 24th letter to Minister Duguid.  And Mr. Warren referred to this earlier.  And if you have that, and if you'd go to page 2 of it, you will see in the middle of the page the reason for the planned revisions that were made.  He says:
"As you know, in response to the building public concern over electricity prices, OPG determined in mid-April that it would defer the filing of its application to allow us to consider alternatives that would further reduce the impact on consumers."

So a public-interest circumstance was causing Hydro One to change, to revise, consider alternatives for revising its business plan.

And then down at the bottom, Mr. Mitchell goes on:
"As you may know, at its meeting of May 20, OPG's board of directors approved OPG's revised rate application.  And on May 26th, 2010 the application was filed with the OEB."

It then goes on:
"Under separate cover, OPG's board chair has submitted a revised 2010-2014 business plan that reflects the new proposed rates to you and the minister for concurrence as per our memorandum of agreement."

That passage, in my respectful submission, demonstrates without doubt that the purpose, the dominant purpose, of the documents that were presented to the board of directors was to obtain approval for revised business plans that would -- that did form the basis of a revised application.

Mr. Barrett in his affidavit says, if you look at paragraph 15, he asserts no business plans -- no revised business plans were approved, as I read it, in any event, and talks about the plan being approved in November of 2009, but I would point out that is entirely inconsistent with the letter that Mr. Mitchell wrote, where he says:
"Under separate cover, OPG's board chair has submitted a revised 2010-2014 business plan that reflects the new proposed rates to you and to the Minister of Finance for concurrence as per our memorandum of agreement."

So these facts, in my respectful submission, make it impossible for OPG to demonstrate that the dominant purpose of the documents is anything other than the presentation of written materials seeking approval for revised business plans on which this very application is based.  Now, if you agree with that, then that's the end of the litigation privilege claim, in my respectful submission.

Now, the other aspect of the chronology that I would like to draw your attention to relates to the technical conference that was held on August the 26th of 2010.  And the documents pertaining to that step in the process are a little further on in my material.  The cover sheet would be the OEB technical conference transcript, August 26th, 2010, and then at the back of it, there are two documents, one an undertaking given following that conference and then prior to that some questions that were asked at the conference.  So I hope that you are able to put your finger on that paper.

So if I might take you to the second, not the undertaking but the page just before it it's headed up KT1.1, it's page 23.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I have it.

MR. THOMPSON:  And, so in asking some questions at the conference, I was following up with respect to, you will see, it was CME10 and L-4001.  Those are the responses that had been given to the interrogatories that you have before you.  And I asked clarification with respect to building public concern over electricity prices, that's referred to in the letter.  And then if you go -- if you look at the letter, you don't need to turn it back up, I will just read it again.  Mr. Mitchell's letter says:

"OPG determined in mid April that it would defer the filing of its application to allow us to consider alternatives that would further reduce the impact on customers."

And so my question at the technical conference was:  What were the alternatives considered that would further reduce the impact on customers?  And that was in addition to the proposal that was in the application to extend the time over which the balance in the tax loss variance account would be recovered.

And the transcript starting at page 147, line 15 contains that series of questions, and the upshot of it was Mr. Barrett couldn't recall what alternatives were presented nor whether any alternatives were presented other than the one that's in the application.

And so an undertaking was taken, and the undertaking response then was the last page:

"No alternatives other than that in the application were presented to the OPG board of directors.”

And why is that of some significance?  Well, in the response and in Mr. Barrett's affidavit, in response to CCC 1 and in Mr. Barrett's affidavit, they are trying to portray the notion that the presentation to this meeting was for the purposes of considering strategic litigation courses of action which involves, at the very least, some alternatives.

But the bottom line is when you get to the meat, no alternatives were presented.  So it's simply a revised business plan that management was recommending and the board of directors was approving, but in the presentation there had to be something to persuade the Board that accepting that proposal was responding to the public interest concerns that had given rise to the revision to the business plans.

And, so, my submission is that material is clearly relevant to matters in issue in this proceeding and it obviously was -- and I say it was made in the course of business for obtaining the approvals necessary for the company to obtain the pricing -- for the company to submit a pricing change request to this tribunal for consideration.

So that's why I say they can't possibly satisfy the dominant purpose test.

The other evidence that I urge you to consider is not in the material, it's confidential -- well, it's confidential material by and large.  It's referred to at tab -- where am I here now -- tab 12 I think is my -- and it comes just after that – sorry, it come as little bit after the transcript that I was referencing.  Following the transcript that I was just referencing, there is the transcript of the Board's ruling in the Hydro One case a few days ago.

And then at tab 12 there is a list of documents.  Four of them are confidential and they have been produced in the Hydro One proceeding.  My friend, Mr. Smith, told me he had some concern about this.  I don't have them here to present to you, but I understand from Ms. Binnette that they are available to you.  I submit that you are quite free to take a look at them because they are the kinds of documents I submit we are asking to be produced in this case.

There is, however – and if you have them, I urge you to take a look at them because that's exactly what they are, presentations to boards of directors seeking approvals of business plans and the application based thereon.

There is, however, a non-confidential document that is part of my material, and that's the Hydro One presentation to its board of directors on May 13, 2010, seeking approval of the revised application, and it has a summary and so on.  And it also has risk analysis at page 3.  And at the top of page 4 it talks about anticipated intervenor concerns.

So it's the same kind of document, I submit, as what is being described here by OPG.

So my submissions are, for these reasons, there is should be an order for production made for the very same reasons that such an order was made in the Hydro One Transmission case.

In terms of -- so that would respond to CME's 10(a). In terms of CME 10(c), that was a request for a description of the criteria the Board applied in determining the reasonableness of the revised plans.  It may well be that production of the documents will allow me to find out what those criteria are, but I still say they have to answer the question and list them and describe the criteria.  It wasn't a documents production question it was a question soliciting a descriptive response. So those are my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  We have no questions for you, Mr. Thompson.

Mr. Shepherd, are you ready to go?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, I am.  Madam Chair, I have two documents I will refer to.  They were sent to the Board last night.  And I have spoken to my colleagues and my friends have advised me that they have it already.
Submissions by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we are supporting the motions but we are not supporting all of the rationale behind them, and that's why we want to make submissions.

My friend, Mr. Warren, has made the argument that these proceedings are not adversarial, and because they are not adversarial litigation privilege does not apply.

I am going to start by looking at the Farnaby case.  Now, this is a case from Australia that came to us through the wonders of Google, and this case is a decision of the Administrative Appeals Tribunal of Australia.

And just as an aside, the whole area of law and privilege is driven by the British concept of the legal system.  And, so, the laws are generally common amongst the various British Commonwealth areas.

This is the only really good analysis that we were able to find by an administrative tribunal of the very question that you're presented with today; that is, under what circumstances, if any, should you apply litigation privilege to the matters before you.

And in this case, this is -- conceptually you can imagine it as supposed that all the administrative tribunals in Ontario, all their motions for review went to one tribunal, which was separate.  That's what this tribunal does.  So it takes everybody's motions for review, but it's still an administrative tribunal, and in fact they make a point of saying in the decision they don't make judicial decisions, they make administrative decisions.

However, it's true that the two people who were deciding this case are both judges of their Federal Court, as well as being on this tribunal, so they are knowledgeable in the law.

And the reason we're putting this to you, putting this case to you, is because we think it will help you walking through the reasoning that they went through, that you will conclude, yes, this reasoning applies in this case.  It's logical.

So the first thing they say -- and I will take you to page 5 of this decision.  The facts of it don't matter.  The facts of it really are irrelevant to the principles.  On page 5 of this decision, in paragraph 15, they talk about a decision, an Australian decision, that says the administrative appeals tribunal is not adversarial, it's inquisitorial, and therefore privilege doesn't apply.

And the tribunal says that's not right.  That's not the right way to look at this.  They say -- and you will see here:
"With great with respect to Bergin J..."

This is at the beginning of 16:
"...we are not sure that such an analysis is particularly useful.  We think it is more useful to look at the proceedings themselves and enquire whether they carry features that warrant the recognition of privilege, rather than to strive for a label and then to attribute consequences to the label.  That process runs the risk of promoting form over substance."

So our initial position is that, while there's all sorts of arguments to say that some proceedings are adversarial enough to apply it and some proceedings are not, the right way to look at it is, does the underlying rationale for the privilege make sense here?  If it does, you should apply it.  If it doesn't, you shouldn't.  So that's step one.

And I guess the other advantage to that is that -- well, no, I will leave that.  Never mind.

So then let's go to the question of what is the privilege.  And this is a little bit lawyers counting how many angels are on the head of a pin, I guess, but there is actually one privilege.  It's called legal professional privilege.  That privilege has two parts to it.  So it's one privilege called legal professional privilege, and this is the same in most jurisdictions.  It has two parts to it.  And I will take you to page 4 of the -- this Farnaby decision that I have put to you, in paragraph 8, where they talk about it.

And they say there is two parts to it.  The first part is advice privilege, and that is, when lawyers and clients are communicating with each other so that the client can get advice from the lawyer, whether it's litigation or not, those communications are privileged.  That's the one that we are most familiar with.  It's also referred to as solicitor-client privilege.  But that is -- the communications must be between the client and the lawyer, and they must be for the purpose of the lawyer giving advice to the client.

Then the second category is litigation privilege.  And in litigation privilege there is two differences.  The first is that the communication does not have to be between the lawyer and the client.  It can be between the lawyer and a third party.  It can be between the client and a third party.  And -- but the second is -- so that broadens it.

The second change narrows it by saying that it's only advice and instructions relating to actual or expected litigation.  That is to say, it can't be about your will.  It has to be about litigation, real litigation, that is either happening or is going to happen.

So that's the principle, but the key part of this is it's one privilege, legal professional privilege, and it is entirely about protecting the ability of people to have lawyers represent them in adversarial proceedings.  That's what it's about.

So the classic case of litigation privilege is where a lawyer, for example, needs to retain an outside expert.  Let's say they need medical reports.  The Farnaby case is about medical reports.  So a lawyer needs to go get medical reports in order to understand the case well enough to defend the client.  Well, those are not producible, because the medical reports, even though not communications between client and lawyer, are for the purpose of the litigation, and therefore they are subject to the privilege.

Or similarly, if a lawyer has to go get some forensic accounting done, or sometimes in criminal matters and even civil matters lawyers hire jury selection analysts whose specialty is jury selection.  They are not lawyers, but they assist in selecting the jury.  That sort of stuff is the classic type of thing that litigation privilege is intended to cover.

But the key thing to understand here is that the privilege is always about protecting the ability to instruct and receive advice from counsel.  This is still always about that throughout.  And when we come to the documents themselves you will see why that's so important.

So for example, if you take a look at page 9 of the Farnaby case, you will see that they quote an Australian case, but I will give you a Canadian cite that's similar.  In paragraph 32 -- and they quote with approval -- they say:
"The rationale is that's the purpose of this privilege, is that it promotes the public interest, because it assists and enhances the administration of justice by facilitating the representation of clients by legal advisors, the law being a complicated and complex discipline."


So the whole point of this is it's legal professional privilege, because it's about legal advice.

All right.  I wonder if you could -- you have the book of authorities of my friend, Mr. Smith?

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That has a case in it in the third tab, I believe, the Ghermezian case, which my friend has referred to in his materials a number of times, and I am sure we'll hear about again later.  And in that case, in paragraph 18, the Alberta court quotes the Law of Evidence in Canada, which is sort of the bible about evidence, as follows:
"The adversarial system is based on the assumption that if each sides presents its case in the strongest light the court will best be able to determine its truth.  Counsel must be free to make the fullest investigation and research without risking disclosure of its opinions, strategies, and conclusions to opposing counsel.  Indeed, if counsel knows he must turn over to the other side the fruits of his work, he may be tempted to forego conscientiously investigating his own case in the hope that he will obtain disclosure of the research investigations and thought processes compiled in the trial brief of opposing counsel."

The point here is that what we are trying to do is protect the ability of people to use their lawyers and use their lawyers effectively.

Now, against that let's turn to what the documents are.  And the documents are described in paragraph 7 of Mr. Barrett's affidavit, which is in the reply from OPG.  And I do not have that in a tab form, but I believe it's -- my document, it's called OPG motion reply to CME, and it's -- the major document is the Barrett affidavit.

And in 7, paragraph 7, Mr. Barrett -- and Mr. Barrett's not a lawyer -- says:
"Here are the documents we are talking about:  A presentation describing the application and the related financial impacts of that application."

That's this application that's before you now:
"A report for submission to the committee signed by the CFO, not a lawyer, the senior vice-president corporate affairs, not a lawyer, and the CEO who I don't think is a lawyer, and an update to that submission recommending the revised application for approval, signed by the same three people."


So none of that has anything to do with advising lawyers, none of that has anything do with instructing lawyers or asking your lawyer what you should do, none of it.

Then you go on to, if my computer will cooperate, you go on to paragraph 8, Mr. Barrett was the author of -- the principal author of these documents.  And in paragraph 10, we see the first lawyer popping up, that is as a member of the executive management team, OPG's general counsel was one of the parties that saw it.  We see nobody here from their outside counsel, we see no legal advice involved here at all.  None of it.

The essence of the documents, and in this respect we agree with Mr. Thompson, is to explain to the board of directors the revised plan and the revised budget that the company will be asking this Board to approve.  It is not about giving or receiving legal advice.

So, our view is it simply doesn't come within the type of documents that's supposed to be protected here.

And the way to test that is to look at, well, what if you did allow this category of documents to be privileged?  So what that means is that all documents that the company prepares related to the rate case, are not producible, business cases, sensitivity analyses, engineering reports, you name it, none of that stuff is producible unless they say so.  So they can waive it.  They can go through and do a whole pile of documents and say, okay, now which ones will we show the Board?  Let's show them this one, that looks good; let's not show them that one.  Because their principle that something they deliver to their board of directors which relates to the rate case is because they delivered to their board of directors and there was a rate case coming is privileged, their principle means all the rest of that stuff is too.

All right.  However, and we said in our written submissions, and I think this is an important distinction to make.  There is probably material in these documents that should be accorded privilege.  I don't know, because I haven't seen them, but I am guessing that there may be things in them like we may have to give this up in ADR, or -- well, no, it's OPG probably not, but something like that.  You understand like ADR positions or things like, we have a weak witness panel on this point so it's a risky area.  Those things, if they are in there, in our view, you shouldn't see and we shouldn't see because that is about how you get legal advice and how you give instructions to your counsel.  Those are the things that should be taken out.

However, the actions of a regulated business in deciding what budget they should request from their regulator, those actions as a general principle should not be hidden from the regulator.  And that's what they are asking.

So, what we have asked is that obviously you can't just rely on the applicant to say, okay, we will give you this part and not this part.  We have decided what's privileged in it and what isn't.

So we have said what you should do is establish the rules first.

Here are the things that we think should be privileged as a matter of principle, right?  So for example, discussions about ADR positions; for example, discussions of the strengths and weaknesses of witnesses, those sorts of things.

Then identify a person that could be a Board Member, not one of this Panel but another panel or a Staff member with -- under delegated authority to look at the documents and identify the things that under your decision would be privileged.

Now, my friend, Mr. Smith, in his written submissions was not happy about that suggestion and so I am going to draw your attention to two things.

First of all, in the Farnaby case faced with the same problem that you are talking about, if you look at the top of page 4 of that decision, what they did is they said, okay, we don't actually know what's in the document, we are going to designate one member of the panel.  In this case, the panel -- not the panel that's going to hear the final case, but the panel hearing the appeal.  We are going to designate one who will not be hearing the final case to look at the document.  And then you see the president judge - I can't even find it - the president was designated to look at the document to be satisfied that it came within the category they were talking about, number 1.

And then the other thing I will refer you to is, if I have one, this of course comes up in court all the time, and the rules of practice deal with it.  They say, and I take you to other document I gave you, which is rule 30 of the Rules of Civil Procedure in Ontario.  So the rule starts at the bottom of the first page, but if you go to fourth page, I gave you the whole rule because you are sort of obligated to do so.  This is talking about what happens if privilege is claimed and if you see in the fourth page under sub 6, it says:

"Where privilege is claimed for a document, the Court may inspect the document to determine the validity of the claim."

So as I say, we are not making it up.  We are trying to find a rational solution for the situation to make sure that you can excise the things that you shouldn't see and we shouldn't see but have the benefit of all the other things that my friends have asked for under the principle that full disclosure is the key. Those are our submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you Mr. Shepherd.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Shepherd, I am not familiar with the Administrative Appeals Tribunal of Australia, but I am just wondering you said the facts didn't matter, but I think it might be useful for us to know what kinds of -- it says it reviews administrative decisions made by the Commonwealth government.

Are those decisions like -- I mean this one was dealt with Mr. Farnaby and the Military Rehabilitation Compensation Commission which denied him compensation after he left the navy.  So that seems to me that would be in the nature of -- it was an appeal that he was denied compensation which would be like the social services – I don’t know what it’s called now – it goes to the review board, if you don't get your welfare payments, that's where you appeal, or the immigration review board where you go if you don't get refugee status or those nature of tribunals.

I just wondered whether this administrative appeal tribunal also deals with things like energy rates or telecommunications rates or policy, the kinds of things that our tribunal does or the NEB or the CCRTC or tribunals of that nature.  Do you have any idea?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Generally, this appeals tribunal is not economic regulator and doesn't hear appeals from economic regulator generally speaking, so you are right in that respect.  I was not giving you the case for that purpose, I was giving you the case for the analysis because I thought that the analysis was spot on and you would be able to apply it.

MS. SPOEL:  And I just wondered also, in paragraph 21 they refer to the statutory characteristics of review and subparagraph 5 says, “Although the tribunal is not bound by the rules...”, and these seem to be fairly similar to Statutory Powers and Procedures Act, it says:

"Although the tribunal is not bound by the rules of evidence, the manner which is required to conduct a hearing requires it to act on evidence which it admits.”

That suggests to me that there does not have an ability to take into broad public policy considerations if the parties don't raise them, a point that Mr. Warren made, and I wondered if you had any comment on that, or if you know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I can tell you that -- I don't know the answer to that question.  I can tell you that this case has been referred to and followed in Ontario, I just don't have the reference here.  I wasn't actually using it as precedent but rather as a tool to assist.  But it has been followed in Ontario, and if you wish I can find the cite and get it for you.

MS. SPOEL:  That's fine, thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you Mr. Shepherd.  I think maybe we will take our break now.  We will break for 20 minutes and then we will return to hear Mr. Millar.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:56 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, are you ready?
Submissions by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I will begin with two quick housekeeping matters.  Mr. Shepherd referred to two documents.  I would like to give those exhibit numbers.  The first -- why don't we mark first the Rules of Practice and Procedure, starting at, I think it's Rule 30.  That will be KM1.4.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.4:  RULES OF PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE, BEGINNING WITH RULE 30.

MR. MILLAR:  And then he referred to a case of the administrative appeals tribunal, Farnaby v. Military Rehabilitation and Compensation Commission.  I will call that KM1.5.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.5:  COPY OF FARNABY V. MILITARY REHABILITATION AND COMPENSATION COMMISSION.

MR. MILLAR:  Moving to my submissions, Madam Chair, I do recognize that I did not pre-file any submissions, so I thank the Board for the opportunity to make these, what will be brief submissions, and I will not abuse the privilege you have given me.

I will address three sub-issues within the litigation privilege issue.  I would like to briefly discuss the extent to which litigation privilege applies to tribunals generally and in this proceeding in particular.  I will have a brief submission regarding whether or not the Board would be empowered to order disclosure of the documents if it found litigation privilege applied in these circumstances.  And then I would like to make some submissions regarding Mr. Shepherd's suggestions regarding a process that might be employed if litigation privilege is found to apply and there is some question as to whether or not the particular documents are covered by that privilege. So I will begin with what is the key issue, and that is whether or not litigation privilege actually applies in these circumstances.  It's odd.  When I first considered this matter I thought that this would be a rather open-and-shut decision.  However, it doesn't appear to be that way.

When you look at the cases, somewhat surprisingly to me, it does not appear that this exact issue has ever been decided, at least in Canada.  There is the Australian case, which is -- admittedly is somewhat helpful, but there does not appear to be a case either of a tribunal or of a court directly on point here.  So I guess you should feel lucky that you may have an opportunity here to make new law.  But I will discuss what the cases do tell us.  I think they are somewhat instructive and should assist in your deliberations.

First off, I think there is little question that litigation privilege can apply to a tribunal, but also there seems to be little question that it does not apply in all circumstances revolving around tribunals.  There are some cases on both sides here.  And indeed, if you look at the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act -- Mr. Smith has provided some excerpts from that at tab 7 of Exhibit KM1.2 -- clearly that contemplates it.  It specifically references privileged information, so presumably, at least in some circumstances relating to tribunals, privilege will apply.  And I don't think that's contentious.

But the question is, does it apply in these circumstances.  The cases on tribunals generally seem to be split two ways.  In cases where the tribunal or the tribunal staff in some cases is doing what I would describe as investigative work or fact-finding, things of that nature, it appears that litigation privilege does not cover those types of activities and will not apply.

However, conversely, when the matter is something relating to discipline, in the College of Physicians case, or relating perhaps to penalties or something of that nature, it does appear that litigation privilege applies.

And my submission is that, I don't want to say unfortunately, but it's not very helpful that we appear to be sort of in the middle here.  In fact, we are sort of in the middle even on the spectrum of board proceedings.

My thought would be that if this were a policy proceeding or something like a low-income consultation that's taking place next door, presumably there would be a finding that litigation privilege does not apply there.

Conversely, if this were a compliance proceeding under part 7.1 of the act, I would suspect that everyone here would agree that litigation privilege does apply.  That's where a specific penalty is often being sought against someone who is alleged to have breached an enforceable provision.

But here again we are kind of in the middle.  I couldn't find any cases in which the Board considered this exact issue, and I spoke with my colleagues, and no one here was able to produce such a case.  I also looked a bit further afield, and I wasn't able to find any cases in which an energy regulator in particular or, indeed, even an economic regulator dealt with this type of issue before.  So that's the legislative and jurisprudence background to this issue.

If we attempt to look at the specifics of this case and a rates proceeding, which I submit sort of falls kind of in the middle of the spectrum, I have to say, in some cases -- in some respects what Mr. Warren says is exactly right, and that is, presumably the object of all parties here in the proceeding is to reach a just and reasonable rate, and as Mr. Warren points out, in fact the Board doesn't necessarily have to pick Mr. Smith's view -- pardon me, OPG's view versus the intervenor's view.  It can come up with its own view.  Your -- what you have to do is -- I shouldn't say "just and reasonable rate".  Of course, this is a payments proceeding.  But I think we would agree that largely the same principles apply here, that that's your responsibility, and it's not necessarily to pick submission A or to pick submission B.

So in that -- it's not adversarial in the sense that you have to pick party A or party B.  But I do think when you look at how a rates proceeding or a payments proceeding actually plays out on the ground -- and this touches a bit on what Mr. Shepherd was going after -- it does bear many of the hallmarks of an adversarial type of proceeding.

We have -- although presumably everyone wants just and reasonable payment amounts, there are serious disputes about the sub-issues as to what compromises a just and reasonable rate.

So there will be serious disagreements over many of the key issues in this case, where parties will be taking positions that are directly adverse to one another.

You will also see, somewhat similarly to in a court, there is cross-examination.  There will be the calling and swearing of witnesses.  There will be cross-examination.  That is adversarial in nature, I would suggest.  And then, of course, there is also final argument and reply argument, very similar to the way it would be conducted in a proceeding before a court.

So if -- I should also add, as you are aware, there is -- a very similar issue came up in the Hydro One case just last week, and my friends have referred you to that.  For reasons I don't actually know, it doesn't appear that the litigation privilege argument was even made in that case.  I don't see it in the decision.  I reviewed the documents.  And as best I can tell, this was not actually raised as an issue.

So although that decision is certainly of some relevance to you, I don't know that it helps directly on this litigation privilege issue.  It just doesn't appear to have been argued there.  So that's a caution in looking at that case.

And where I fall on this, ultimately, unfortunately, is I don't necessarily have a specific recommendation as to whether or not you should find that litigation privilege applies in this proceeding.  There are arguments both ways, and you will be privileged to be perhaps making new law on this.

So I would like to move on to the second point, and that is, if you do find that litigation privilege applies here, do you still have the jurisdiction to make an order requiring disclosure.  This is raised by Mr. Smith in his argument.  It actually wasn't touched on by the other parties, so I suspect this is actually not contentious, but my view is that if you decide litigation privilege covers these proceedings and in fact covers the documents to which -- that my friends have asked for, then you are not empowered to require production of those, and largely for the reasons Mr. Smith states.  The SPPA, I think, is fairly clear on that.

So my submission there is, even if those documents are relevant, if you find that privilege applies to them, you cannot order their production.  I am actually not sure that that's actually even contentious.

And finally, I would like to move on to Mr. Shepherd's suggestion regarding how you might make determinations whether or not specific documents are privileged, assuming litigation privilege applies in this context.  I suppose there is two ways -- well, there is probably three ways, but I will only talk about two ways in detail.  One would be to follow a similar process to what we've already done in this very proceeding with relation to, I think, confidential materials and relevance of some others, and that is where it would go directly to the Panel and the Panel only, and the Panel would make whatever review it makes of these documents and then will come back with a decision.

I suspect Mr. Smith will not be enamoured of that particular option, and he will likely point out that there is a difference here.  There is a difference between a question of whether or not something is relevant or whether it is privileged as against -- pardon me, whether it's relevant or confidential as against whether or not it's privileged.

And I suspect he will make the argument that once a bell has been rung it cannot be unrung.  If these are privileged communications, presumably they should not be seen by the Panel at all, whether or not they choose to disregard them later.

So Mr. Shepherd proposes a way around that very problem. and he suggested that you might do something similar to what the courts do, at least in some cases, and that’s where they have either a master or another judge who is not the trier of fact in the particular case have a look at the documents and come up with their own decision on that.  And that way the actual judge or in your case the panel does not see the documents if they are ultimately held to be privileged.

That's not a bad suggestion, but what I would point out is that the there may be some procedural hurdles we would have to overcome if you wanted to go that way.  For example, I don't think that this panel is actually empowered to strike a new panel, for example, to deal with something like that.  Mr. Shepherd also mentioned delegated authority, and without having the act in front of me, I can't recall if that would fall into the types of things that a delegated authority is permitted to do, but even if that were the case, there presumably is some question as to whether or not this panel can assign work in that fashion.

Now, if the panel does want to go this way I am confident we could find a way to do it.  There would be -- presumably it require the Board as a whole to actually appoint the person who would look at this.  My thinking is that we would be able to do that if that's what the panel wanted to do, but I think we would at least have to give some thought as to the process surrounding that.

So I said I wouldn't speak for long.  Those are my submissions, Madam Chair, subject to any questions you may have.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Thank you we have no questions.  Mr. Smith.
Submissions by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Members of the Board.

In my submission, these motions for production should be dismissed for two reasons.  One, because the documents at issue are subject to a claim of litigation privilege that has not been waived by OPG and in that respect this motion is obviously manifestly different than the Hydro One case.  Whatever decisions Hydro One made it's certainly clear that the issue of litigation privilege was not raised in that proceeding.

Two, the documents are not relevant, in my submission, to your determination at the end of the day of just and reasonable rates.


Now, I would like to just lay out for you how I intend to organize my submissions.  First, I think notwithstanding the recitation of the facts by my friends, it is worth a review of the status of the record, and what has been disclosed as opposed to what has not been. And that is important to set the context for your decision as to what is privileged and at the end of the day your determination, whatever your view of my privilege argument, as to the relevance of the documents.

And then after that I am going to turn to the law of litigation privilege.  I do disagree with my friends obviously on a number of significant points that you will need to resolve.  And then, thirdly, obviously I am going to come to the relevant point.

Turning by way of background to the review of the record, there was, as Mr. Thompson articulated it, a stakeholder conference in late March.  And OPG did advise at that time that it expected to file an application and seek a rate increase of roughly 9.6 percent.

That application did not proceed.  The evidence is that on April 13th, an e-mail was sent by Mr. Mitchell advising of management's decision to pull the application and to revise the application.

And I want to pause there because it is important, Panel Members, to consider that a claim for litigation privilege must be determined on the basis of the evidence before you.  It is a fact-driven inquiry, obviously with reference to legal principles.

With that in mind, an affidavit was filed by Mr. Barrett, which attests to a number of facts.

My friends elected not to cross-examine on that affidavit.  They have not challenged the evidence that OPG has put before you, and in my submission, it is not now open to my friends to contest that evidence or impugn that evidence in any way having elected to waive the right to cross-examine.  Mr. Barrett's obviously here. He could have been cross-examined on his affidavit.  There is in my friend Mr. Thompson's, both his submission and the motion record, a suggestion that a direction was received from the minister.  That is not the evidence.  It is not the evidence of Mr. Barrett, and it does not align with the facts that are before you.

The letter that my friend refers to is dated May 5th.  The e-mail is dated April 14th.  The e-mail obviously precedes the letter and the uncontested evidence is that it was a management-driven initiative to revise the application.  Frankly, I don't think that point matters much at the end of the day but I do think that it highlights the fact that would should be looked at is Mr. Barrett's affidavit and his description of what the documents contain and what they don't contain.

Now, we do know that on May 20th the Board approved a revised application, and that is the application that is before you.  That application seeks a rate increase of 6.2 percent, a reduction of 3.4 percent, and obviously the irony of this motion is that we are talking about a reduction of rates and my friend is seeking to establish, I suppose, that the reduction isn't enough, but that argument will be made at the end of the day.

Now, Mr. Warren dealt with his request which was the documents or what took place between April 1 and May 26, those letters, the communications between the shareholder and OPG are in the record.  That material has already been produced, so that interrogatory has been responded to in its entirety.

The evidence is in relation to the business plans, and this is important, in my submission, that the business plans on which OPG's application initial and revised is based was before the board of directors in November 2009, and those business plans budgets forecast, objectives, are all unchanged.  And this is important, in my submission, because my friends are proceeding on an incorrect premise.

The premise on which they proceed is that the information is necessary to test the extent to which OPG considered the rise of electricity prices in Ontario generally in developing its application.

That matter is considered in the business plans which have been produced and on which my friends will be entitled to cross-examine.

The evidence, uncontested, of Mr. Barrett at paragraph 15 of his affidavit:

“Approval to modify the business plans prepared by the nuclear and hydro-electric business units was not sought nor were changes made to OPG's planned budgets.  These business plans and budgets including the assumptions regarding work requirements, work programs, resource requirements and performance objectives form the basis of OPG's application initial and revised.  They were approved by OPG's board of directors in November 2009 and have been produced."

That is absolutely the evidence.

And to the extent my friend Mr. Thompson suggests otherwise, there is not a factual foundation for it.  He does refer to the letter and indicates that a revised plan was submitted by OPG to the minister, and that is addressed in paragraph 16 of the affidavit.  Of course changing the application to deal with the tax loss variance account and the period for recovery of the variance accounts, had an impact on revenues.  That's dealt with in paragraph 16.  The one change that was made was to OPG's revenue forecast to reflect the change in proposed rates.  And of course that was provided to the province because it is relevant what revenues they are going to receive as shareholder.  And that is the evidence in the record, and it is that which is of importance to you and it distinguishes this case, Members of the Panel, to the Hydro One case, because if you look at the Hydro One case you will see what was in dispute was the business plans, the business plans that have been disclosed by OPG in this proceeding.

So I submit, with respect, that my friends are proceeding on an incorrect premise, and this case is not analogous to the one that was decided roughly a week ago.  I will be coming to an earlier Hydro One case which I do think is apposite.

Now, in terms of additional information which was disclosed, my friend Mr. Thompson referred you to the technical conference.  That conference -- at that conference he asked what alternatives were considered by the Board in order to address the concern of the rising electricity prices, and Mr. Barrett indicated, while there was the change in the tax loss variance account, and he was asked, 'Is there anything else, do you remember?'  'No, I don't,' and an undertaking was taken.  OPG has responded to that undertaking and indicated no other proposals were considered.

For better or worse, that is OPG's evidence.  And frankly, my friend's ability to assert at the end of the day that more should have been done is entirely open to him, and it does not matter whether more alternatives were or were not considered.  He can say more should have been.  He can say other alternatives would have been.

The one thing we can -- we do know is that OPG cannot say we also considered three or four other alternatives and Mr. Thompson's client's submission should be disregarded because, although those were interesting alternatives, they don't play out for the following reasons.  Not only did that not happen factually, and the evidence is perfectly clear on that and uncontested, but OPG hasn't waived privilege.  It couldn't say it in any event.  Privilege doesn't allow you to hide the truth and lead evidence you know to be false, and that's not, of course, our situation.

Now, I would make one other observation about the Hydro One proceeding and my friend Mr. Thompson's invitation to consider them.  There is a technical problem with that.  Those documents are confidential, and they are the subject of undertakings given by people who are participants in those proceedings.

I was not a participant in that proceeding, and I certainly was not a participant in 2009, and I do not believe that it is open to Mr. Thompson to file those, nor is it open for the Board to consider them, having regard to the terms of the undertaking.

Now, I say with respect it does not matter, in that, if you review the transcript, it is apparent that the documents we are talking about are different, and you have my submission on that as they relate to the business plans.

Now, let me turn with that background to litigation privilege.  And in my submission, this motion and your determination as to the applicability of litigation privilege generally will have broad ramifications.  And the ramifications are different than those suggested by Mr. Shepherd and by Mr. Warren.  They will have broad ramifications, not only for applicants such as OPG, they will have broad ramifications for intervenors because, in the context of a decision that litigation privilege does not apply, then the private considerations of my friends -- CCC, LPMA, SEC, IGUA -- would all be open to production.

To the extent the CCC board considers OPG's application, considers whether to put in evidence, communicates with other intervenors, all of those communications would be open to production to the extent the requests were relevant.

And in this proceeding we know there are a number of intervenors who have filed evidence.  It's absolutely clear if litigation privilege doesn't apply it would be open to OPG to ask for all communications right now with those experts.  It would be equally open to ask for production as between CCC and CME and -- or any other party to the proceeding, and that's because there couldn't be common interest privilege, because if there is no litigation privilege there can be no common interest privilege either.  The only privilege that would remain would be solicitor-client privilege, and that wouldn't protect the communications at issue.

So I think it is extremely important that you consider how this will play out, not just in this proceeding and other proceedings, and exactly the scope of interrogatories that will follow.

Now, let me turn to paragraph 19 of the factum that we filed, which deals with the issue of litigation privilege, and what is it.  And I think it's worth going over to some extent because, as I will be submitting in a minute, I do disagree with my friends as to the nature of the privilege and the scope of the privilege.

What is it?  It is:
"...a privilege that shields from disclosure all documents made in confidence for the dominant purpose of preparing for litigation, including opinions, strategies, conclusions with respect to the litigation, as well as statements or documents obtained or created for use in litigation."

And if I can ask you to turn to the Blank case.  That is at tab 1 of my book of authorities which has been given, Exhibit KM1.2, and ask you specifically, Members of the Panel, to turn to page 15.  Well, let's start with page 14.

Blank is a case that came to the Supreme Court of Canada from an access-to-information request.  Mr. Blank, who was unrepresented, had been the subject of proceedings by the Crown.  Those were ultimately stayed.  He then brought his own civil suit for abuse of process and a variety of related claims.  And he sought through his access requests all of the material that had developed in the earlier proceeding.

The case went to the Supreme Court on the issue of the nature of litigation privilege and the duration of litigation privilege.  And in that context the Supreme Court had to expressly consider what is litigation privilege, the nature of it, and how long it lasts.

This is the leading case in Canada on the point.  It is a definitive statement of the law.  And as I will come to in a minute, my friend Mr. Shepherd is, in my submission, exactly wrong on the nature of litigation privilege and the application of the Farnaby case.

Litigation privilege is not dependent upon, nor is it intended to, facilitate communications with a lawyer.  It is separate from solicitor-client privilege.  And indeed, that is the first 15, 16 pages of the Supreme Court of Canada's decision, is directed at distinguishing solicitor-client privilege from litigation privilege.

So if you look at the bottom of page 14, paragraph 26, and it talks about solicitor-client privilege.  It is:
"Much has been said in these cases and others regarding the origin and rationale of the solicitor-client privilege, and that is legal advice privilege.  Solicitor-client privilege has been firmly entrenched for centuries.  It recognizes that the justice system depends for its vitality on full, free, and frank communication between those who need legal advice and those who are best able to provide it.  Society has entrusted lawyers the task of advancing their client's case with the skill and expertise available only to those who are trained in the law.  They alone can discharge these duties effectively, but only if those who depend on them for counsel may consult with them in confidence.  The resulting confidential relationship between solicitor and client is a necessary and essential condition of the effective administration of justice."

And so, when my friend Mr. Shepherd refers to the importance of being able to access lawyers who are trained in the law, that, the Supreme Court of Canada says, is an important policy consideration for solicitor-client privilege.

And turn over the page to page 15, paragraph 27:

"Litigation privilege, on the other hand is not directed at, still less restricted to communications between solicitor and client.  It contemplates as well communications between a solicitor and third parties or in the case of an unrepresented litigant between the litigant and third parties.  Its objective is to ensure the efficacy of the adversarial process and not to promote the solicitor-client relationship, and to achieve this purpose parties to litigation represented or not must be left to prepare their contending positions in private without adversarial interference and without fear of premature disclosure."

And then there is a quote that follows from now Justice Sharpe of our Court of Appeal which is cited both here and in other cases that the parties have referred to, particularly Davies which you can find at tab 2 of our brief of authorities.

But Justice Sharpe makes the observation that litigation privilege has several features which distinguish it from solicitor-client privilege.  First, as he says:

"Solicitor-client privilege applies only to confidential communications between the client and his solicitor.  Litigation privilege, on the other hand, applies to communications of a non-confidential nature between the solicitor and third parties and even includes material of a non-communicative nature."

That is important.  The examples Mr. Shepherd went through and that are often cited are communications with third parties.  But it is important to recognize that the Supreme Court of Canada is indicating that communications are protected as are non-communicative documents.  For example, as in this case, memoranda to the board of directors obviously don't go to a third party but it does not matter.  Nor does it matter that the documents were not generated by a lawyer in order for litigation privilege to apply.  Yes, they were generated by the regulatory affairs staff, irrelevant to a consideration of whether or not litigation privilege applies, in my submission.

Second, it says:

“Solicitor-client privilege exists any time a client seeks legal advice.  Litigation privilege on the other hand applies only in the context of litigation.”
And then, third, and most important, “the rationale for solicitor-client privilege is very different from that which underlies litigation privilege.”

And it goes on to explain the difference that I have articulated before which is in litigation privilege, the importance of creating a zone of privacy in which the litigant is entitled to prepare its case free from premature disclosure.

Now, there is a final distinction that I don't think is particularly relevant and that is the length of time which litigation privilege survives.  Solicitor-client privilege survives forever; litigation privilege survives the duration of the litigation only.

Litigation privilege, in my submission, applies to proceedings before this Board, and I think it's important to begin with an understanding of where the Board's jurisdiction is derived, particularly in relation, as we are dealing here, with interrogatories.

The Board, pursuant to section 21.2 of the OEB Act, is required to hold a hearing before issuing an order and as such the Board is governed by the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act.

Now the SPPA, you will see it at tab 7 of my brief of authorities.  The SPPA is the statutory authority for the Board to make rules of practice and procedure providing for disclosure.  And that rule is rule 25.0.1 which is on page 3 of tab 7.

As you will see on page 1, the rules that the Board has may not require the production of privileged materials, and that's in section 5.4(2).

Equally, on page 15 -- sorry on page 2, section 15(2), “Nothing is admissible in evidence at hearing that would, A, be inadmissible in a court by reason of any privilege,” and that would obviously include litigation privilege, in my submission, “under the law of evidence.”

So I agree with my friend Mr. Millar that it is not open, if you are to determine that these materials are subject to litigation privilege to order their production.

Now looking, again, at section 15(2)(A), it's important to look at the words and the words chosen by the legislature.

"Nothing is admissible in evidence at hearing that would be inadmissible in a court by reason of any privilege under the law of evidence."

So the proper question to ask is:  If this were a court proceeding, would these documents be inadmissible?  And in my submission, they absolutely would not be admissible.

And, in my submission, the issue of the scope of section 15.2, has been decided in Ontario.  If you take a look at the Miller case, which can be found again in my brief of authorities.  I will just give you the reference, you needn't turn it up.  It's at tab 9.

And in that case at paragraph 34, it was held in the financial services -- by the Financial Services Commission of Ontario at paragraph 34 that section 52A covers both solicitor-client and litigation privilege.

And, in my submission, the legislature in section 15(2) has reflected a legislative choice.  And that legislative choice is to make this Board subject to claims of litigation privilege.  My friend, Mr. Warren, and I will deal with this at some length, but my friend Mr. Warren focuses on the adversarial process.  I will deal with that and I will submit to you that this is adversarial.  He also says that this Board has a public interest mandate and therefore concepts of litigation privilege do not apply.

I disagree with that and I disagree with it because, in my submission, the legislature in dealing with privilege has made a legislative choice between competing policy interests. There is the competing policy interest that you must exercise your public interest jurisdiction, but there is also the public policy interest of the importance of privilege to our fundamental sense of justice and fair hearing.

And the legislature could, but did not, exclude litigation privilege from the application -- litigation privilege from the application of proceedings before this Board, and you will know from the OEB Act that elsewhere, provisions of the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act are specifically exempted from the Board's power.

So specifically if you look at, again, tab 5.  Page 2, this is one of many examples in the OEB Act that deals with exceptions made to the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act.  But if you look at section 21 sub 4 it indicates:

"Despite section 4.1 of the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act, the Board may, in addition to its power under that section, do the following."

And then if you go down to section 5:
"Despite subsection 9.1.1 of the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act the Board may. . ."

And the same can be found in subsection 6 and subsection 6.1.  In each of those cases, the legislature has indicated, for whatever reason, that the provisions of the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act do not apply in some respect to proceedings before this Board, and it could easily have done so with respect to litigation privilege, or privilege at all.  But it has chosen not to do so, and in my submission it would be wrong for this Panel to substitute its view for a clear legislative choice made by the legislature.

Now, I should make reference here to a case that my friend, Mr. Thompson, referred to, and that is the Union Gas case.  It was not referred to by Mr. Warren.  It's been given Exhibit KM1.3.

And I agree that that is a case in which the Board reiterated again the nature of the proceedings and the importance of disclosure on utilities, and cited with approval the cases from the Divisional Court and the Court of Appeal that deal with the Board's broad public interest mandate.

I take no issue with those cases, obviously.  But what's instructive is, after citing the Toronto Hydro case and the decision of Justice Lederman that my friend Mr. Thompson read to you, former Vice-Chair Kaiser continues and says on page 11:
"A publicly regulated corporation is under a general duty to disclose all relevant information relating to Board proceedings it is engaged in unless the information is privileged or not under its control.  In doing so a utility should err on the side of inclusion.  Furthermore, the utility bears the burden of establishing that there is no reasonable possibility that withholding the information would impair a fair outcome in the proceeding.  This onus would not apply where the non‑disclosure is justified by the law of privilege but no privilege is claimed here."

And of course, the privilege that's referred to there is not specifically articulated, but it's certainly, in my submission, clear that Vice-Chair Kaiser was indicated that, yes, these disclosure obligations exist, yes, the Board has a broad public-interest mandate, but equally important is the law of privilege, and in my submission this is an entirely accurate statement of the law and of the process that this Board is bound to follow under the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act.

Now, in my submission, other case law reflects the application of privilege to tribunals.  I am not sure to what extent this submission is actually contested.  Obviously, we have the Miller case from Ontario -- from the Financial Services Commission of Ontario, the Union Gas case, and the Ghermezian case, which my friend Mr. Warren referred to, and obviously which I will refer to.  That is found at tab 3 of our submissions.

And this was a case that concerned a claim for privilege before -- or in respect of proceedings before the Municipal Tax Assessment Board.  And what the court needed to consider was whether or not, obviously, privilege applied to those proceedings.

And if you turn to paragraph 18 and 19, which can be found at page 5, the court reviews the rationale for litigation privilege.  And it focuses in on the need to maintain a zone of privacy, and that, of course, is -- those are words that appears in the Chrusz case from the Court of Appeal, and a rationale that is discussed by the Supreme Court of Canada.

And I should pause to say Ghermezian is referred to in the Supreme Court of Canada's decision.  It is not doubted in any respect.  So it is cited by the Supreme Court, presumably as an authoritative statement of the law.

But what ultimately gets determined in the Ghermezian case is that litigation privilege does not apply.  And the reason why it does not apply is because there was no obligation on the parties to make disclosure.

So if you look at the bottom of page 5, members of the Panel, at paragraph 20, the court observes:
"There is no evidence before me that the parties involved in a dispute before the Municipal Tax Assessment Board are required to exchange relevant documents or make any type of disclosure akin to that in civil litigation.  As such, the policy justifications underlying litigation privilege are not brought into play in this case.  WEM was free to gather any information it required to prior to the hearing and was able to choose which information it disclosed to the City and to the Board.  There is no need for privilege, because a party is not required to exchange documents with the opposing parties."

And then the court continues:
"Under this test it is possible that material may become privileged if at some point in the regular course of the proceedings the parties become obliged to disclose all relevant documents to the other side."

In my submission, that is extremely important.  Unlike in the Ghermezian case, we have here a situation of compelled disclosure.  There is no question, based on the authorities my friends have referred to, the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act and this Board's rules of practice, that your powers of disclosure are extremely broad.

There are, I don't know the number, many hundreds, thousands of interrogatories that have been asked in this proceedings.  OPG, subject to claims of relevance and privilege, is required to answer them.  And indeed, your own rules of practice provide for that.

And you probably need not turn them up, but they are cited at tab 6 of the brief of authorities.  And Rule 29.01 indicates that where interrogatories have been directed on a party, that party shall answer them, in a nutshell.  It is not voluntary.  It is not like the Ghermezian case in that respect, but it is exactly what is contemplated by the Ghermezian case, when it says that if disclosure does apply then privilege comes along with it.

Now, allow me to respond to this submission by Mr. Warren that these proceedings are not adversarial and therefore privilege doesn't apply.  And you have my submission already on the provisions of the SPPA.  And in my submission, that is a full answer to this argument, is a complete answer to whether or not there is an adversarial requirement, as he contemplates.  The Ghermezian case is similarly authority for that.

And while the Farnaby case is not an accurate statement of the law in Canada, at least so far as litigation privilege, I do agree with my friend, Mr. Shepherd, that the case is instructive, at least insofar as it tells us not to be concerned about labels overly, about whether something is or is not adversarial.

Now, in my submission, the adversity argument, in addition of the submissions I have made, fails for two reasons, 1), on the law and other provisions of the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act, which I will take you to, and 2), on the facts of this case.

Now, on the law, if you have, again, the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act, at tab 5, page 2, Section 21.4 deals with when the Board may dispose of a proceeding without a hearing.  And what we are talking about here are adjudicative hearings, the type of hearing we are in right now.

There is a recognition in that section, in my submission, that the Board can only do so when parties will not be adversely affected and there is a recognition in the wording of this section that those sorts of proceedings are adversarial in nature.

So if you look at section 21.4 it says:

"The Board may in addition to its power under that section dispose of a proceeding without a hearing if the Board determines that, under B, the Board determines that no person other than the applicant, appellant or licence holder will be adversely affected in a material way by the outcome of the proceeding and the applicant, appellant or licence holder has consented to disposing of a proceeding without a hearing."

And I have handed up, members of the panel I believe through Mr. Millar, a package of materials, or I will be.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you did.  This will be Exhibit KM1.6, and is this just a package of documents.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.6:  OPG Package of materials

MR. SMITH:  It's a package of materials that I intend to refer to throughout the submissions, but the first that I intend to refer to is an excerpt from the Oxford English dictionary, which is obviously an oxymoron.   And it is important, in my submission, to focus on the word “adversely” and its various derivatives.

If you turn to page 2, you will see there the definition of adversarial in the middle column towards the bottom, “of or pertaining to opposition involving adversaries adversary.”  If you go to the bottom, “Adverse, acting in opposition, actively hostile.”

And then if you go to the top on the right-hand side it's under the heading “advantage,” the second definition:  “Harmful, unfavourable,” third definition, “opposite in position, adverb, adversely.”

In my submission, again, the legislature in using -- do the members of the panel have the particular portions of the --

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  It's the various definitions of adversely, adverse and then the adverb adversely.  Each of which obviously reflects obviously reflects some derivation of “opposition,” and in my submission, again, we have a clear choice in words by the legislature using the word adversely in a recognition that these sorts of proceedings involved adversity of interest and there is absolutely no doubt, as I will come to in a minute, there is adversity of interest at least on this issue between the people at this side of the table and the people at that side of the table, and in my submission nothing more is needed.

There is a recognition of the adversarial nature of these sorts of proceedings by the Board itself in my submission.  And that can be found in the Board's report at tab 8 of my brief of authorities.

And that was a report undertaken by the Board in 2006 dealing with the decision-making processes at the OEB.  And this, in my submission, is very instructive.  And it focuses, in my submission, on two types of proceedings before the Board, adjudicative proceedings and rules or policy type proceedings.

And adjudicative proceedings in addition to compliance proceedings would include the type of proceeding we are in right now.

I therefore agree with Mr. Millar in this respect.  I do not say that litigation privilege applies in every proceeding or every single forum in which the Board is engaged.  It may well be that in rule-making or policy-making scenarios litigation privilege does not apply, because in those situations there is no compelled disclosure.

But it does apply, and the only thing you need to determine is whether it applies to adjudicative proceedings.  If you turn to page 7, there is a description by the Board of the very sort of proceeding we are in right now and the Board says the second paragraph beginning, "On the whole”:
"On the whole orders may only be issued after hearing."


And that of course comes from section 21.2 that we looked at before which brings into play the Statutory Powers and Procedures Act:

"Hearings may be oral or in writing.  The difference between the two largely turns on the minimum legal rights provided to the participants in a hearing.  In oral hearings, parties have the right to file evidence and then, importantly, challenge the evidence of parties and make oral submissions.  In written hearings, parties are entitled to file written materials and have access to all written materials considered by the board in making its decisions.  Orders are made by panels on the basis of an evidentiary record."

My friend, Mr. Warren, indicated that you are not bound by evidence.  That is not correct.  You are to make your decision based upon the evidence.  Now to the extent policy considerations are relevant, I disagree with Mr. Warren that courts do not have regard to policy considerations when they make their decision.  We all have seen the news, the Superior Court's very recent decision about the prostitution laws.  The entire analysis in the second half of that case is policy driven, and it's in fact the analysis that's required under the constitutionality test whether or not a law is or is not constitutional is a policy consideration.  So that, in my submission is not a relevant distinction.

Going down on page 7, “The essence of a rule,” -- and I am sorry, I should lay the foundation.

There is a cite to a leading textbook on administrative law, cases, text and materials:

“The essence of a rule as opposed to an adjudication is that the former lays down a norm of conduct for general application while the latter deals only with the immediate parties to a particular dispute."

And those words are important.

And then if you go later in the material there is a discussion of the role of parties at I believe it's page 29.  It's under part 3.  And there is a recognition by the Board that intervenors play a very important role.

So if you have under part 3, it says:

"The role of the parties in OEB proceedings is linked to role of staff.  The minimal role of staff over the last several years has been accompanied by an increased reliance on parties to the proceeding.  This has led to both benefits and costs.”

And then it goes on to consider the benefits or not of an active intervenor community.

But what comes through in the Board's discussion of the role of intervenors is the adversity in interest of the intervenors with the applicant.  And it's reflected in the fact that the Board notices that intervenor groups themselves, within the intervenor group, there may not be cohesion between members of the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.  They may be competing constituencies, the Low Income Group versus those who wouldn’t fall into the category.  VECC is a good example of that.

So there a recognition of adversity of interest not only within an intervenor group but certainly with the applicant and of course there is further recognition by the Board of the adversity of interest of the parties in its own rules which provide under rule 30 or 31 for ADR, alternative dispute resolution.  And, obviously, what is happening in that situation is parties are compromising from positions they have that are adverse from one another and coming forward with some sort of compromise.

Now, I would like to review the cases that my friend Mr. Warren took you to because, in my submission, without exception, the cases are helpful to the applicant in advancing its case or not applicable.

Now I have dealt with the Union Gas case and the Farnaby case so I won't touch on them. I would like to deal with the B.C. Privacy Commissioner case, because in my submission that case is perhaps the closest analog to what we have here.  It was correctly decided, and there is no basis on which to distinguish that case.  That was an example of a claim of litigation privilege in a regulatory context.  It's found at tab 7 of KM1.1.

And what arose in that case was proceedings in front of a Washington-based regulator and proceedings before the National Energy Board.  And it was a leave-to-construct application.  And I would observe that obviously in the leave-to-construct context, it's certainly under the OEB Act, what is of paramount consideration is the public interest.  And the objectives under -- depending on it's gas or electricity under the OEB Act, under Section 1 and 2, would both come into bear.

So that is the context.  We have litigation privilege claimed in respect of proceedings before the National Energy Board, an economic regulator with public-interest considerations, a broad mandate, and the ultimate holding is that, yes, the proceedings were adversarial and that litigation privilege applied.

So if you turn to page 12, at the bottom, paragraph 40:
"I have concluded that the information the ministry refused to disclose on the basis of litigation privilege was protected by that privilege."

It then goes on:  "The scope..." -- It was the Ministry of the Environment who was the particular ministry that's at issue:
"The scope and application of litigation privilege in relation to administrative proceedings and principles for deciding when proceedings are related to each other are still developing.  In deciding that litigation privilege applies here, I have kept in view the underlying policy of litigation privilege, which is again to give parties who had adverse in interest in contested legal proceedings confidentiality protection for information that they obtain or create to prepare their case."

And then it goes on at paragraph 41:
"I note that in College of Physicians the Court of Appeal approved of Ed Miller Sales, which held that a regulatory investigation can support a claim of litigation privilege in relation to the adversarial interest of the target of the investigation.  SE2, which was the party seeking leave to construct, and British Columbia were clearly opposed in interest in the EFSEC and NEB hearings.  Their interests were adversarial, as was the case in Ed Miller."

And in my submission, absolutely this case is applicable, on all fours with our situation.  CME, CCC, and SEC are adversarial to OPG on this issue.

My friend, Mr. Warren, attempted to distinguish this case.  He acknowledged, I think fairly, that he brought it forward because it is the most applicable, and then sought to distinguish it on the basis that he was not sure whether or not the public-interest component was considered by the case.  In my submission, if you read the case, that submission absolutely fails, because the cases that are considered by the privacy commissioner are the very cases my friend, Mr. Warren, relies on for the balances of his submissions.

So if you look through this case you will find all of the cases referred to by Mr. Warren in his book of authorities:  Ed Miller, the College of Physicians, the House of Lords decision, and Ghermezian.  They are all referred to in this proceeding.

So in my submission, it is absolutely not the case that the privacy commissioner was not directly engaged on the issue of whether or not the NEB proceedings were adversarial.  It was the issue that was before the privacy commissioner and that he had to wrestle with, and decided correctly, in my view, that the nature of the proceedings was adversarial.

Now, just passing, dealing with the College of Physicians of British Columbia case of 2002, in my submission, it's dealt with appropriately in the privacy commissioner's case.  But I would invite you to look at the decision carefully and the facts, because if you look at -- I believe it can be found at page 17.

It's extremely important when looking at that case to understand the stage at which the proceeding was at and to understand who is being discussed, in terms of the claim for privilege.

And so if you look at paragraph 79, the court observes:
"I do not disagree that the interest of the member being investigated is adversarial to that of the College and the complainant."

So it's at page 17, paragraph 79.  And that, in my submission, is the closest analog in this context, at least, to our case.

And then it goes on to say:
"However, when the College is investigating a complaint..."

So only at the investigation stage:
"...its interest is in the outcome of the investigation, is not adversarial in relation to either the complainant or the member."

So what's being discussed here is a claim for litigation privilege in relation to the materials that the College had.  It would be analogous to a claim for materials that this Board has.

And what is being discussed is not a hearing context, but an investigation, and whether or not those materials would be privileged.

And then the court goes on to say at paragraph 81:
"At the investigative stage the College is not seeking to impose penalties or sanctions against the member, but to make findings on which to base a recommendation."

And then obviously a proceeding would go forward. So no findings will be made at this stage against anybody.  That is different than the case we are in, where you will at the end of the day, members of the Panel, make findings for or against OPG's application as it's been filed.

And then it is interesting to observe that the College -- that the BC Court of Appeal reinforces its decision at paragraph 84 and over to deal with the fact that it was highly unlikely at that stage that anything would come of it.

And it goes on to discuss the fact that there are over an average of 1,300 complaints that are filed.  And then it goes on to say in 84:
"Given the range of actions available to the SMRC after a complaint has been investigation (sic) and the small number of complaints that actually proceed to disciplinary action, it would not be reasonable to conclude at the outset of the investigation that it was unlikely that the matter would not be resolved without disciplinary action."

And that is a very different situation than in our case, where we are obviously in the proceeding already.

Now, on the facts in this case, in my submission, there is no doubt that the parties are adversarial in interest, and I have, in addition to the materials, in addition to the dictionary definition, I have given to you the response to an interrogatory filed by CME in response to Board staff Interrogatory 1.  It's Exhibit M-5, Schedule 1, page 1.  It looks like...  And I will just touch on it a little bit.

The context for this, CME has filed evidence in this proceeding, and it's evidence of total bill impact on customers.

OPG indicated that it did not plan on filing interrogatories, because in its view the evidence is not relevant and is inadmissible, and maybe we will have to fight it some other day.

But my friend Mr. Thompson took the opportunity in responding to some interrogatories from Board Staff to set out with some particularity his view or his client's view as to the admissibility and relevance of that evidence and how it is proposed to be used in this proceeding.

So if you turn over to page 2, he indicates in his letter at the bottom:

"...reliance upon CME's evidence at the hearing.  A, cross-examine on OPG's witnesses.  CME's evidence pertaining to customer impacts will be used as a comparator in CME’s cross-examination of OPG's witnesses.”

In other words, he intends to challenge OPG's evidence. Over at page 3, the adversity in my submission is plain in the words chosen by Mr. Thompson.  B:

“Deficiencies in OPG's planning processes.  In argument we expect to be relying upon the CME evidence to support a submission that OPG's failure to prepare or consider in its planning process a total bill impact analysis of the type CME presents is a material deficiency.”

And then C:
“Unreasonableness of total 2010 and 2012 spending and deferral account balances.”

Then he goes on to say the evidence is relevant to the Board's consideration of the reasonableness of OPG's total spending. And then he goes on and particularizes it: total planned spending is unreasonable.  Specific line items of spending are unreasonable.

It is absolutely clear that Mr. Thompson's clients are adverse in interest to OPG.

And then, finally on this point the transcript from the Hydro One motion that my friend referred to, I provided it to you.  Page 29 -- page 28, I am sorry.  These are submissions by Mr. Thompson dealing with the relevance of the material that was sought in that motion.  And, again, you heard my earlier submission that it's a mistaken premise.  But he indicates squarely his opposition to the position of Hydro One and, in my submission, to the position of OPG.  Beginning line 7:

"So I submit to you that all of these documents that we have asked to be produced are clearly relevant to the application and statements made in application.  Parties opposite in interest are entitled to examine them and use them for the purposes of examining Hydro One's witnesses in this proceeding."

And you can substitute Hydro One -- OPG for Hydro One and you will have Mr. Thompson's position and in my submission CCC's and SEC's position as well.  There is no doubt that he is adverse or his client is adverse, and the other moving parties are adverse as well.

So in my submission, it is clear on the law that these are adversarial proceedings, and it is clear on the facts that they are adversarial.

Now, turning to whether or not the documents in question are privileged.  That is dealt with in my factum at paragraphs 33 to 38.  Given the lateness of the hour, I won't belabour the point, but I do wish to make this observation.

And, again, there was no evidence or no cross-examination put forward by my friends to challenge OPG's evidence as to the nature of the documents in question.

They are an April 14th e-mail, a May 11th memorandum, a May 11th package of documents, there are three of them that went to the audit and risk committee, and a May 20th package of documents, again, three substantially the same as those from May 19th, that were put to the board of directors.

And in my submission those documents are all subject to a claim of litigation privilege.  They were all prepared, the evidence is, for the dominant purpose of litigation.

And in my submission, if you step back, the documents all address the fundamental litigation question:  Do I commence an application, and, if so, on what basis?  And, that, in my submission, is privileged.

They also address, the evidence tells us, with the issue of -- as reflected in the interrogatories, issue analysis, settlement, and regulatory risk, and the evidence of Mr. Barrett is that there was discussion at the Board about OPG's prospects for success in front of this Board.

I don't think OPG's view of that is relevant but I do think it's absolutely privileged.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith, if I might stop you briefly to ask a question related to that.

MR. SMITH:  Certainly.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am looking at the description of the materials that were provided to the committee prior to the May 19th meeting and item A say a presentation describing the revised application and the related financial impacts of that application.

I am wondering what is it in the nature that document that distinguishes it from all the other documents that OPG has filed in this proceeding in which it has not claimed privilege?

MR. SMITH:  The difference, in my submission, goes to -- and this addresses my friend Mr. Shepherd's concern, about there will be a holus-bolus claimed by all applicants in all proceedings not to produce documents.  And that's resolved by reference to the dominant purpose test.  And the Court in Blank and elsewhere had to deal with the issue about what is and what is not privileged and whether or not the substantial purpose test applies to documents that have some connection with litigation or those that only relate to the dominant purpose of litigation, if that's the test. And that's been resolved by the dominant purpose.

So the difference is the other documents that have been produced are foundational to OPG's application, and they deal with things like, well, the business cases are the best example.  The budgets.  All that is the ground up documentation that goes in to whether or not -- the cost of service filing and whether or not those costs and the resulting rates are just and reasonable.

That is, and I say we could not claim privilege, it's not a question of waiver over the business plans.  We could not claim privilege over those.  You could not, if OPG were to study the Niagara tunnel and have a business case in respect of it as it has done in the file, they could not claim litigation privilege over that because that's not why that document is being prepared.

So that is the difference.  This is a document that has specifically been prepared to describe the application in its entirety.  The constituent components have already been produced, and the related financial impacts of that application.

And I would pause to say that the related financial impacts, that information is fully disclosed and has been disclosed in materials by OPG.

The intervenors know the difference between the results of the change in the tax loss variance account and of changing the commencement of rates from January 1st to March 1st.  So that is disclosed.

What the other related financial impacts are, that is what's dealt with in Mr. Barrett's affidavit at paragraph 16 where it says the one change that was made was to OPG's revenue forecast to reflect the change in proposed rates.

There is also, I should say, in that presentation not only is there a description of the revised application, and perhaps the best example is if you had a Statement of Claim, it would be: Here is our Statement of Claim, board of directors.  We would like your authority to issue it.  In my submission, that would be absolutely privileged and that's what this is.  Here is our application, we would like your authority the file it.  Okay.  You have that authority, but that's the inner workings -- the documents on which that is based are privileged.

There is also, I should advise, and it's clear on the record an additional component of that document which is the delegation of certain authority in respect of the application to management. And that is a delegation to deal with the application having regard to developments in this proceeding.

That is a back door.  If this is produced it's a total back door to get at OPG's compromise position and in my submission that is for sure privileged.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And is it -- would it be a representation, then, that to the extent that any of these, either the particular item I cited or any of the other materials or, indeed, any of the discussion dealt with either operational or financial impacts of the application as it was revised, that any of that is already on the record?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, what the evidence is, is that all of the business plans that rolled up into this application, not only were they not changed at the May 20th meeting, but they are the basis on which the application was prepared and the basis on which you will have to make a decision about whether the resulting rates are just and reasonable.

And that's why I began by saying that my friend's position is based on a faulty premise.  Their position is that the business plans are what's being held back from you, as in the Hydro One case, and that's not what we are dealing with here, in my submission.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  So in my submission, dealing with the documents, the law tells us, particularly if you look at the Davies case, that you will have to make your decision on the basis of evidence before you, and it is important, in my submission, that the evidence that OPG has put forward about these documents and the nature of the documents and what they go to is privileged, and it is not contested by my friends, and I don't think it's open to them to suggest otherwise, having not cross-examined on the point, other than on the basis of the affidavit, and I don't think that the affidavit helps them at all.

I should address one issue, which is the submission that the Board has the jurisdiction to review the documents to make for itself a determination.  And in my submission, it would be an error for this Board to engage in effectively litigation by instalments and set up a second proceeding to deal with it.

This issue is actually addressed in my letter to the Board back in September 21st, when the initial request came in from CCC for an interlocutory order asking for disclosure of the documents to the Board and to CCC in confidence.

The law is certainly that disclosure cannot be ordered in advance on a determination of privilege from an applicant to an intervenor.  It's not as clear, and, in fact, I think you did have the -- do have the authority to review the documents in the event you are in doubt.  However, the Ansell case, which I cited in my letter, admonishes courts, and in my submission, equally applicable to this tribunal, to not have resort to that authority conferred by the rules of civil procedure unless there is reason or evidence that leaves one in doubt.

So it would have been open to my friends to cross-examine Mr. Barrett, make the submission that doubt existed as to the dominant purpose of this document, and invite you to review the document, but in my submission that ship has sailed.  They elected not to cross-examine.  The evidence is uncontested about the purpose of the documents, what they were for and what they address, and in my submission it would not be appropriate for you to now ask to review the documents, because there should be on the evidence no doubt as to whether or not they are privileged.  And again, in my submission, it has to be an evidence-based enquiry.

So I don't think, in response to Mr. Shepherd's submission or Mr. Millar's submission, it is appropriate or necessary to have a second proceeding.  I think you are in a position to make a decision about whether the documents are or are not privileged, and obviously we will be inviting you to make the decision that they are privileged.

Now, finally, I won't dwell on it in any detail, but you have our submissions in our factum about the relevance of the documents.  And it comes back to the point I have articulated several times, which is the ground-up material has already been produced.  And importantly, so has the fact that OPG responded to the concern that Mr. Thompson asks you to have regard to, the rise in electricity prices, by revising its application to do two things:  1), made some changes to the tax loss variance account to change the period of recovery, and, 2), it's seeking rates commencing March 1, 2011, as opposed to January 1, 2011.

You will have to make a decision to the extent this issue is relevant in your consideration whether those changes are adequate.  But my friend doesn't need any additional information to make that argument.  And indeed, I don't think my friends made much of an argument for relevance, because the argument they advanced was based entirely on a wrong premise.

So if you look just briefly at CME's notice of motion, which presumably sets out the basis on which they say these documents are necessary -- it's at tab A, right at the beginning, second page of the notice of motion.  It indicates, under paragraph 2(e) and (f):
"These are the reasons that are articulated as to why these documents are said to be relevant.  The documents are relevant to an examination of OPG's witnesses with respect to the criteria applied and the adequacy of OPG's response to public concerns over electricity price increases."

Well, in my submission, my friend has everything he needs to make that argument, because we know what OPG did, and it's either going to be adequate or inadequate if this is at all a relevant consideration.
"(f), the documents are relevant to a consideration of OPG's revised business plans provided to the minister of Energy and the Minister of Finance, pursuant to the memorandum of agreement."

And in my submission, that's the faulty premise, because the business plans have been produced.  And the only change is the change in revenue, and that's already been noted in Mr. Barrett's affidavit.

And then lastly, the Hydro One case that I did cite in my book of authorities, which I think is apposite.  It can be found at tab 11.  And if you turn to page 6, under the heading "Board findings".  And what was at issue in this proceedings was something called the ICM application, or the incremental capital module application, which is discussed earlier in the decision.  And it goes to -- it indicates:
"Before we deal with the specifics of the ICM application, we addressed the last two issues raised by certain intervenors.  Those are whether the Board should reject the application because Hydro One management had advised their board of directors in November 2008 that ICM relief is not needed and that Hydro One stated that it will proceed with its capital plan irrespective of the Board's decision in this proceeding."

And then the Board finds in the second paragraph, beginning "while":
"While the genesis of an application is of general interest to the Board, it is not determinative of the substantive aspects of the application.  Once filed in accordance with the provisions of the legislation, applications are reviewed on their merit.  The particulars surrounding the levels of approval before a distributor makes an application is a matter that is internal to the company itself."

And that, in my submission, is important, because it highlights the irrelevance of what my friends are seeking.  It does not matter one little bit at the end of the day whether OPG's board thought its application was good, bad, or otherwise its proposal was good, bad, or otherwise.  The application has been filed, and it must be determined by you on its merits, and the inner workings or the specific approvals process is irrelevant, in my submission.

That's it.  I apologize for going so late.

This is just by way of clarification, but at page 150 of the technical conference transcript Mr. Thompson asked further about mitigation, he asked:
"All right.  Was that proposal to change to March 1 considered to be a mitigation measure?”


Mr. Barrett’s answer:

"No, I think it was simply a function of the fact, the time had passed and we did not believe that we would be able to complete the OEB process in time to implement rates January 1."

I don't think that changes anything.  The only proposal that's otherwise is the tax loss variance account change and whether or not that was adequate or not.

So subject to any additional questions, those will be my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  How long, Mr. Warren and Mr. Thompson, would you expect to be in reply?

MR. WARREN:  Four and a quarter minutes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Thompson, can you beat that one way or the other?  I don't know.

MR. THOMPSON:  I would think 10 to 15 minutes maximum.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay one moment, please.

Okay.  We will hold you to those time estimates and we will proceed to try and get this completed today.
Further Submissions by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  I have four submissions in response.

Let me deal first with my friend's assertion that the evidence is clear in this case.  There is no question, Madam Chair and Members of the Panel, that the minister's directive to cut rates – sorry, to reassess the application to see if rate implications could be reduced and OPG's response to that are central issues in this case.

My friend Mr. Smith says, well, the evidence is clear on the basis of Mr. Barrett's affidavit.  And what that is is the classic sly invitation that I should follow the rabbit down the hole by cross-examining Mr. Barrett when I don't have the documents.  I can't meaningfully cross-examine Mr. Barrett unless I have the documents, and he says I can't have them.

All that the Board can do, in my respectful submission, is conclude from the centrality of that issue that all information that went to the OPG board remains relevant.

Let me turn to the second question which is my friend's interorum argument that if litigation privilege is held not to exist, that there will be a bevy of questions that be asked of intervenors about what they did.  I understand that.  I didn't fall off the turnip truck this morning.

What happens in each case is that it depends on the facts and the relevance of the issues and they will be contested on an individual basis about whether or not they should or should not be produced.  I understand that and that's something that we will have to live with. The question is whether or not, on a broad basis, litigation privilege does or does not apply to these kinds of proceedings.

The third point I want to make is my friend’s, I say with great respect, frankly bizarre over-reading of the Statutory Powers and Procedure Act.

What is that statute?  That statute sets out a minimum procedural guideline for regulatory proceedings.  It does not tell you what your proceedings consist of.  My friend wants to read that statute as if it says everything you deal with is an adversary proceeding and privilege must obtain in every case.  It doesn't do that, I say with respect.  It says privilege can be a relevant consideration on a fact-by-fact basis and that's what we are here to decide.

But my fourth point is I don't think my friend really, at the end of the day, disagrees with me that the central issue you have to decide is whether in order to this kind of application is truly adversarial in nature.

This is to be distinguished from court proceedings.  This is not a lis in which a court has to decide one side or another.  You do not decide that OPG wins on a point and I lose on a point and vice versa.

The Board will be aware that the Board will listen to the submissions of the intervenors, they may or may not consider them relevant.  But at the end of the day it's guided by its own view of the evidence in combination with the policy considerations you have to decide.

I would invite you to turn up one of my friend’s materials at tab 8 of his book of materials.  At page 29, this is the Board report on its proceedings.

Page 29, and the paragraph which my friend side-barred, the third to last sentence says:

"Those intervenors bring their perspective to bear on the complex problems addressed by the Board."

And that exactly encapsulates the role of the intervenors.  This is not -- you don't have to decide between the intervenors and the others.  You have to listen to their perspective on the complex issues that you have to decide.  That's what distinguishes this case, this proceeding from cases in which litigation privilege obtains.

The B.C. privacy commissioner's case, in my respectful submission, is not determinative -- it's not legally determinative on you in any way.  It's not a court decision that's binding on you, but it's not determinative on its facts because on its facts, clearly there was a sharp contest between two competing points of view, that of the British Columbia government and of the applicant.  That is not the case in this proceeding.

I would ask the Board at the end of the day to take a common sense approach to your understanding of what these kinds of applications are.  They are not adversary litigation.  My friend's client is seeking, if you wish, the extension of a privilege granted to him which is to be able to charge rates determined by the Board.  Nothing adverse can happen to my friend arising out of this proceeding.  It may not get what it wants, but that is not like a penalty.

What the Board is doing is deciding just and reasonable rates on the basis of the evidence on the basis largely of its view of what is just and reasonable.  That distinguishes it from an adversary proceeding.   I am not sure I made four and a half minutes, but I sure tried.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am going to take you slightly beyond that question, Mr. Warren.

To the extent that the materials do go to ADR positions or strategies and that sort of thing, is it your position that that material is relevant as well?  Setting aside the question of privilege and if we were to just look at relevance for a moment?

MR. WARREN:  To the extent that the material deals with ADR positions, it's no longer relevant for the Board's determination of this case.  I mean ADR is done.  To the extent it existed at all, it's done in this case.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And from what I understand from the representations from Mr. Smith that to the extent that the materials in question have anything to do with the operational or financial impacts of the particular application or any alternatives, although we have the evidence that there were no alternatives considered, is that -- why is that not the only information that we should be concerned with?  In other words, if we have been told that there isn't anything in there that isn't already in the record in some other form, what is it that could be in there that would remain relevant to our -- the determinations we will need to make?

MR. WARREN:  Ms. Chaplin, you are engaging what I call the rabbit down the hole phenomenon.  I don't know what's in those documents.  I haven't seen those documents.  Nobody has seen those documents except OPG.  And until we see the documents, those kinds of questions, frankly, are unanswerable.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Mr. Thompson.

MR. THOMPSON:  I hope he didn't take a few of my minutes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  No, no.

Further Submissions by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Let me deal with a few points that my friend has raised.

First of all on the failure to cross-examine Mr. Barrett.  I agree with what Mr. Warren has said on that point but I would also add that there was no process established on the procedural order for cross-examination on any material filed  by OPG or anybody else, and this material was delivered I think late on the 27th add this motion was scheduled for argument.  So I am not quite sure when it is we were supposed to cross-examine.

Secondly, I would suggest to you the failure to cross-examine doesn't make everything Mr. Barrett says sacrosanct.  The weight that you ascribe to what's in his affidavit which is made after these events that we are talking about, and made for the purposes of this motion, has to be considered in the context of the other information in the record.  And you have to ask yourself the question:  Is the information in his affidavit compatible with all that information?  And I say, no, it isn't.  And let me just give you a couple of examples and they are reiterating what I tried to say in-chief but my friend ignored those points.

So, for example, Mr. Barrett in paragraph 13 says that strategic decision was made by management to revise the application in the context of contemplated litigation.

What does Mr. Mitchell say about that?  And that goes to his letter.  He says, no, as you know in response to the building public concern over electricity prices, OPG determined in mid April that it would defer the filing of application.  So it's not some big strategic decision to allow us to consider alternatives that would further reduce the impact on customers.

So those two items in the record just don't line up, in my respectful submission.  It wasn't a big strategic ploy for litigation purposes.  It was to revise the application to respond to public-interest concern.

There is another example, and my friend went over this, and he insists that Mr. Barrett -- that what Mr. Barrett says in his affidavit in 15 is correct.  Mr. Barrett, in that paragraph, as I interpret it, said no plans were revised to conform to the new rate application.

Now, what does Mitchell say about that?  He says exactly the opposite.  The Board has submitted -- under separate cover OPG's board chair has submitted a revised 2010-2014 business plan that reflects the new proposed rates to you and the Minister of Finance for concurrence.

So on its face you have Mr. Mitchell's letter, which is more or less contemporaneous with the events.  Mr. Barrett's affidavit, in my submission, doesn't -- is not compatible with it, so that illustrates, in my submission, why his evidence should not be treated as sacrosanct for the purposes of this motion.

The notion that the request for production is based on a premise that the board of directors approved revisions -- well, based on a premise that the plans were changed really doesn't capture what I am trying to say.  The motion for production is based on the premise that the board of directors approved revisions to what had been initially contemplated after considering a presentation prompted by public-interest concerns.  That's not a false premise.  That's exactly what Mr. Mitchell said.

So what was before the board of directors?  Again, I am like Mr. Warren.  I don't know.  But there must have been something in writing about the public-interest concerns that prompted the revisions.  And the question is, was the response adequate, and that's a question you have to consider.

So what the directors considered, what they did, and your evaluation of the reasonableness of all of that is clearly relevant to this case.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Thompson, but isn't what they did squarely before us, and we will determine whether it was adequate or not?

MR. THOMPSON:  But you don't know what they considered in reaching that.  The documents are relevant to what they considered, because they were presented to them.  We have the output, yes, but we don't have the input.  And the input is relevant.

My friend purports -- I think perhaps he misunderstood what I was trying to do by reference to the technical conference.  Let me just try and clarify that for you, if you have the same understanding, and him.

The undertaking -- sorry, the response to the interrogatory to my friend, Mr. Warren, CCC No. 1, paints the picture that a broad range of alternatives was placed before the board of directors for the purposes of considering litigation options, strategy, and all that kind of thing.  And Mr. Mitchell's letter refers to alternatives.  And it's in the content -- if you look at the response to the undertaking, you will see that they paint that picture in response to CCC (b):  Materials contain a discussion of matters that related to OPG's strategy for litigating the application, including in relation to settlement and a whole lot of other things.

And so at the technical conference I asked, well, what alternatives were placed before the board of directors.  The answer:  None.  So that answer discredits the notion that what was before the directors was anything other than materials to support the revision to the plan, and the information in there, in my submission, should have something to do with consumer impacts.

So he misunderstood.  I wasn't saying they should have considered further alternatives.  What I was saying was this answer demonstrates that the way they are characterizing the dominant purpose of these documents is incorrect.

He says CME's adverse in interest to OPG.  Well, that comes as no surprise, I would think.  But we're adverse --


MR. SMITH:  Well, thank you.  This would have been much quicker.

MR. THOMPSON:  We are adverse to interest of OPG in the context of your enquiry with respect to the reasonableness of OPG's pricing proposals in the public interest.  That goes back to Mr. Warren's point.  Sure, we are not on-side on every point, but what's the nature of the process?

A couple of other points, and I think I am still within my time limit.  The question about inspection.  You have the right to inspect, and if you are in doubt as to the dominant purpose of these documents -- I say you shouldn't be, based on this record.  Clearly, clearly business purpose.  But if you are in doubt, then you should inspect.  You can grant these motions, in my respectful submission, without an inspection, but I don't think you can deny them without an inspection, because of the incompatibilities between the way these documents have been characterized by my friend and the other contemporaneous documents on the records that I've have already referred to.

The last point I wanted to make was with respect to my friend's reference to a prior Ontario Hydro case.  That was the decision in his materials dealing with, I think it was Hydro One's application for relief under the incremental capital module in the IRM process.  I think it's the last -- it may be the last tab of his material.

And in that particular case, the Board did say, as -- and I believe he pointed to this passage, if I can just find it.  Yes, it's at page 6:
"While the genesis of an application is of general interest to the Board, it's not determinative of substantive aspects of the application."

I agree with that.  But the documents are relevant.  They are subject to scrutiny in the proceeding, and the weight that's ascribed to them is a matter for the end of the case, as it happened here.

A different conclusion can be reached in a different case based on differences in the documents.  This is not a decision that says the documents are inadmissible.  It says they are admissible, but the matter of weight is something that comes at the end of the proceeding.

Subject to your questions, those are my submissions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We have no questions.  We will not be delivering a decision today, and I am not precisely sure when we will be in a position to make our decision.  We do fully intend to proceed on Monday with the panels that are scheduled, and if, subsequent to our decision, it becomes necessary for one reason or another to have those panels return, we will deal with that in due course.  That's how have decided to proceed.

So we will see everyone on -- subject to any questions, we will see everybody on Monday morning.  Thank you very much.

--- Whereupon proceedings adjourned at 5:19 p.m.
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